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MINE HEALTH AND SAFETY COUNCIL

1. VISION OF THE MHSC
The Mine Health and Safety Council (MHSC) has a vision to
be the knowledge leader and trusted advisor to the Minister
of Mineral Resources and stakeholders on occupational
health and safety matters, and to promote the transformation
of occupational health and safety in the mining industry
towards the achievement of zero harm to mine workers and
mining communities.

2. MISSION STATEMENT
The MHSC’s mission is to promote a culture of occupational
health and safety in the mining industry by providing advice
to the Minister of Mineral Resources, liaising with statutory
bodies, fostering an effective tripartite partnership, and
creating and disseminating information on leading practices
to the mining industry.

3. GOALS AND VALUES

3.2 Values

Professionalism – Professional approach in all our
business dealings and interpersonal relationships.
Respect – Respect each other and value diversity in ideas,
work style, background and skills.
Integrity – Integrity, honesty and ethical approach in everything
we do.
Delivery – Delivery and results-driven culture through
constructive feedback and continuous improvement.
Excellence – Excellence and efficiency in the way we
deliver on the mandate.
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The MHSC prides itself on a set of shared values that inform
and guide the interaction between employees, stakeholders
and the mining industry at large. The first initial of these core
values together spells the acronym “PRIDE” to ignite pride in
the way MHSC is portrayed internally and externally.
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MHSC is pursuing the following goals – all the strategic
objectives will be linked to these goals:
Zero Harm to employees and communities as a result of
mining activities.
To provide knowledge leadership in mining OHS.
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3.1 Goals

4. ABBREVIATIONS AND
TERMINOLOGY
ABBREVIATIONS
AIDS

Acquired Immunodeficiency Syndrome

ASPASA

Aggregate & Sand Producers Association of Southern Africa

ARC
CEF

CEO
CFO

CIOM
COP

CROO
CSIR

CTAC
DMR
GRC

GRAP
HIV
HR

HRRAC
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ICT

IGRAP
ITSC

MHSA

MHSC
MHSI

MITHAC
MOHAC
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MRAC
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MQA
NDP

NIHL
OHS
PDS

PFMA
SCM

SIMRAC
TB

Audit and Risk Committee
Central Energy Fund

Chief Executive Officer
Chief Financial Officer

Chief Inspector of Mines
Code of Practice

Chief Research and Operations Officer

Council of Scientific and Industrial Research
Culture Transformation Advisory Committee
Department of Minerals Resources

Governance, Risk and Compliance

General Recognised Accounting Practice
Human Immunodeficiency Virus
Human Resources

Human Resources and Remuneration Committee
Information Communication Technology

Interpretation of the Standards of General Recognised
Accounting Practice
Information Technology Steering Committee

Mine Health and Safety Act (No. 29 of 1996)
Mine Health and Safety Council (Board)

Mine Health and Safety Inspectorate (‘Inspectorate’)

Mining Industry TB, HIV and AIDS Advisory Committee
Mining Occupational Health Advisory Committee
Mining Regulations Advisory Committee
Mining Qualifications Authority
National Development Plan

Noise Induced Hearing Loss

Occupational Health and Safety
Proximity Detection System

Public Finance Management Act (No. 1 of 1999)
Supply Chain Management

Safety in Mines Research Advisory Committee
Tuberculosis

5. TERMS AND DEFINITIONS

Hazard
Health

Health hazard
Mines

Minister

Occupational health
Occupational
hygiene
Occupational
medicine
Risk

Strategic objectives

The Mine Health and Safety Council established in terms of section
41(1) of the Mine Health and Safety Act, 1996.
A source of, or exposure to, danger.

Refers to occupational health at mines.

Any physical, chemical or biological hazard to health including anything
declared to be a health hazard by the Minister.
Any excavation and activity where mineral deposits are mined; all
buildings, structures, machinery, dumps, roads or objects that are used
during the winning, exploitation, and processing of a mineral.
The South African Minister of Mineral Resources.

Includes occupational hygiene and occupational medicine.

Means the anticipation, recognition, evaluation and control of conditions
at a mine that may cause illness or adverse health effects to persons.
The prevention, diagnosis and treatment of illness, injury and adverse
health effects associated with a particular type of work.
The likelihood that occupational injury or harm to persons will occur.

Represent organisational outcomes that are critical to the achievement
of the MHSC’s mission for a period of five to ten years.
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Council

The officer appointed in terms of section 48(1) of the Mine Health and
Safety Act, 1996, and includes any officer acting in that capacity.
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Chief Inspector

MINE HEALTH AND SAFETY COUNCIL

DEFINITIONS
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6. CHAIRPERSON’S OVERVIEW
MR D MSIZA
CHAIRPERSON OF THE MINE
HEALTH AND SAFETY COUNCIL

It gives me great pleasure, on behalf of the Mine Health and Safety Council (MHSC), to present
the 1 April 2014 to 31 March 2015 annual report to the Honourable Minister of Mineral Resources
Adv. Ngoako Abel Ramatlhodi, our various industry stakeholders, labour organisations and
employees in the mining and minerals sector.

The sector has taken stock of how far it has come in this continuous journey to achieve the
vision of Zero Harm. The progress report was presented during the 2014 Mine Health and Safety
Tripartite Summit. There has been remarkable improvement on the occupational safety front with
occupational health requiring attention in various areas.
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The financial year ending March 2015 was also the year of review of the mining sector occupational
health and safety performance, culminating in the hosting of the successful 2014 Mine Health and
Safety Tripartite Summit. In 2003 the South African mining sector set ten year milestones with
related action plans, in the form of Tripartite Summit Agreement, to radically improve the health
and safety of mineworkers.
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The Council continued to make a significant contribution in assisting the sector in achieving a
sustainable improvement on the health and safety of the mineworkers through the implementation
of the strategic plan in collaboration with our stakeholders, with the sector recording the lowest
fatalities ever during 2014.
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The MHSC was established in terms of the Mine Health and Safety Act (1996) as amended
in 2008. The mandate of the Council is to advise the Minister of Mineral Resources on all
occupational health and safety issues in the mining sector, and to develop legislation, conduct
research, promote mine health and safety issues, and liaise with other bodies on these and other
related matters.

Therefore the mining sector has set itself very bold commitments with clear milestones for the
next decade to ensure that mine health and safety is taken to much greater heights. The sector is
also looking at various technological innovations in dealing with the issues of occupational health
and safety. The MHSC will be collaborating with the sector on various initiatives through the newly
established Centre of Excellence. The Centre of Excellence was officially launched during the
2014 Tripartite Summit. A number of “Quick Win” projects have been identified to be conducted
under the Centre of Excellence addressing various current pressing issues in the sector.
There has also been an improvement in the promotion and communication of MHSC products
and services to the mining sector. The MHSC will be embarking on various initiatives relating to
commemoration of ex-mineworkers to honour the memory of those who have lost their lives in
mining-related incidents, and acknowledging the important role that mineworkers have played in
shaping the economy of this country.
The MHSC’s revenue for the period under review increased from R71 million to R76 million in
2014/2015.
We have embraced principles of Good Corporate Citizenship as part of sustainable development
and will continue incorporating these in our future business processes, this will also include
the new approach of integrated reporting. The Risk and Audit Committee continued to advise
the Council with risks identified and controls implemented during the period under review. The
MHSC’s risk strategy and its fraud prevention campaign (including the MHSC toll-free hotline
where the public and stakeholders can in absolute confidentiality, report fraudulent activities) is
commendable.
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The MHSC as a public entity is also guided by National Treasury in terms of the Public Finance
Management Act (No. 1 of 1999 as amended by Act. 29 of 1999). The Board has exercised
sufficient oversight over the core and support functions of the MHSC for the period under review,
and is satisfied that control measures are sufficiently efficient and effective to mitigate potential
risks to the MHSC. Furthermore the Board and supporting Committees are fully functional and
support the strategic mandate of the MHSC in their respective operational and technical capacities.
Stakeholder relationship and engagement has continued to improve driven by the desire to
realise the shared vision of ensuring that “Every mine worker returns from work unharmed
everyday”. This is part of the vision of ensuring Zero Harm.
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The areas that will still need more focus in the next financial year are the continuation of
promotion of MHSC activities, enhanced project management, timely implementation of MHSC
activities including Summit commitments which are aligned to the National Development Plan
(NDP), internal processes to support Council and its Committees, and improvement of the role of
governance structures to assist Council on governance and risk management. There is also room
for improving efficiency and effectiveness.
The Mine Health and Safety Council will continue with positive and constructive engagements and
collaboration with the Mining Qualifications Authority (MQA) in ensuring that the mining sector has
appropriate and adequate skills to also ensure the achievement of Zero Harm.

I wish to extend my gratitude to the Minister of Mineral Resources for the continued guidance and
support.
I would also like to extend my sincere thanks to the MHSC Board, Advisory Committees, Audit
and Risk Committee, Internal and External Auditors. It is indeed an honour to serve as a member
of the Board together with committed Board members.
In addition, my sincere appreciation also goes out to the employers and organised labour for their
immense contribution and continued support.
I extend my gratitude, on behalf of the MHSC Board, to the MHSC employees for the stellar
performance and support during which the Council’s mandate was executed over the past year
in spite of some challenges.
It is this commitment to service delivery and efforts for increased improvement that will ensure the
MHSC continues to assist the mining sector in ultimately achieving Zero Harm.

MINE HEALTH AND SAFETY COUNCIL
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MR DAVID MSIZA
Chairperson of the
Mine Health and Safety Council

7. MHSC MANDATE
AND PROFILE
7.1 Mandate
The MHSC is established in terms of section 41 (1) of the Mine Health and Safety Act, 1996
(Act 29. of 1996) as amended. The mandate of the MHSC as provided for in the Mine Health and
Safety Act is to do the following:
Advise the Minister on health and safety at mines including, but not limited to, any legislation on
mine rehabilitation in so far as it concerns health and safety:
• Co-ordinate the activities of its committees, receive reports from the committees and liaise
with the Mining Qualifications Authority on matters relating to health and safety;
• Liaise with any other statutory bodies concerned with matters relating to health and safety;
• Promote a culture of health and safety in the mining industry;
• At least every two years arrange and co-ordinate a tripartite summit to review the state of
health and safety of mines;
• Perform every duty imposed upon the MHSC in terms of the MHSA; and
• Annually advise the Minister on relevant research relating to health and safety at mines.

7.2 Profile of the MHSC
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The MHSC is a tripartite structure comprised of representatives from the state, mine employees
and mine owners. The Council is supported by the following structures in the execution of
its mandate as also indicated on figure 1:
•
•
•
•
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•
•

•

Culture Transformation Advisory Committee (CTAC) to advise council on culture
transformation and implementation of Summit Agreements:
Mining Regulation Advisory Committee (MRAC) to advise the MHSC on legislation, guidelines
and standards;
Mining Occupational Health Advisory Committee (MOHAC) to advise the MHSC on
occupational health issues;
Safety in Mines Research Advisory Committee (SIMRAC) to advise the MHSC on
occupational health and safety research;
Mining Industry HIV/AIDS and TB Advisory Committee (MITHAC) to advise the MHSC on
HIV/AIDS and TB in the mining sector;
Audit and Risk Committee (ARC) to advise the MHSC on oversight requirements in line
with PFMA and related corporate governance requirements. Internal Audit is an outsourced
function as part of the Combined Assurance Model; and
Human Resource and Remuneration Advisory Committee (HRRAC) to advise MHSC on
matters related to Human Resource Management in general, including remuneration.

MHSC

ARC

MOHAC

MRAC

CTAC

MITHAC
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SIMRAC

HRRAC
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MHSC OFFICE

FINANCE

RESEARCH
AND
OPERATIONS

GOVERNANCE,
RISK AND
COMPLIANCE

Figure 1: MHSC Structure
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ICT

CORPORATE
SERVICES
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8. CEO’S OVERVIEW
MR T DUBE
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The MHSC office has been established to provide administrative and secretarial support for Council
and its Advisory Committees and is responsible for operational aspects of Council activities.
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The regional tripartite forums have been established in all provinces to allow dissemination of
information and engagement with stakeholders at regional level. This is an area showing positive
result and feedback however there is still room for improvement. There are a number of initiatives
to ensure the effectiveness and efficiency of the tripartite forums, which have provided a two-way
communication between Council and its stakeholders at the “Coal Face”.
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There has been further overall improvement in the operations of MHSC, especially on issues
of compliance relating to supply chain management, promotion and communication of MHSC
products and services to the mining industry. The areas that still need more focus in the next
financial year are the implementation of the new project management system to enhance project
management and the finalisation of the business plan which is required prior to full implementation
of the Centre of Excellence. Supply Chain Management has been identified as a core area that
requires more attention as one of the major areas of concern in terms of effectiveness and
efficiency.
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In order to achieve the above the MHSC office is structured into five functional business units, namely:
• Research and Operations: Administrative support to advisory committees of MHSC and
Project Management.
• Finance: Financial Management through levy collection, procurement and disbursements.
• Corporate Services: Communication and Promotion, Human Resource Management,
Security, Records Management and Facilities Management.
• Information and Communications Technology: Management of ICT Platforms and all
other related matters.
• Governance, Risk and Compliance: Oversee the Governance, Management of Risk,
Monitoring and Compliance and administrative support to Audit and Risk Committee.

In line with the mandate of the MHSC, research is undertaken to seek solutions on the
Occupational Health and Safety challenges faced by the industry, through focused research,
implementation and dissemination of research outcomes. Furthermore the MHSC reviews the
regulatory framework on a regular basis for the mining industry and advises the Minister of
Mineral Resources accordingly. There will be more focus on the promotion and implementation
of research outcomes in the form of guidelines and guidance notes; and workshops and various
relevant initiatives to create awareness on new developments in the mining industry relating to
outcomes of the work of the MHSC.
In continuing with positive contributions to the mining regulatory framework, the MHSC has
delivered on a number of regulations and guidelines to assist the mining industry in managing
Occupational Health and Safety issues. Various research projects have been completed and a
number of knowledge transfer initiatives have been identified for implementation, as an outcome
of research conducted through MHSC.
The Mine Health and Safety Council has finalised various 2014 summit milestones action plans for
implementation starting from the next financial year 2015/16. There will be continuous monitoring
of the implementation of these summit action plans, to ensure that necessary interventions are
effected to ensure that the agreed milestones are achieved.

8.1 Research and Operations
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Through Occupational Health and Safety (OHS) research, the MHSC continues to play a pivotal
role in promoting the culture of OHS as well as finding sustainable solutions to mitigate OHS risks
in the South African Mining Industry (SAMI). In order to ensure that the SAMI derives maximum
benefit from research, a paradigm shift is required to ensure that all research is translated into
practice, practicable solutions and policy. The MHSC research outcomes lead to the following:
• Development of educational, training and awareness materials;
• The development of handbooks and e-books and various guidance documents;
• Identifying of potential leading practices for implementation;
• Developing/Identifying technology and knowledge transfer; and
• Developing/reviewing of legislation and related regulations.
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The MHSC hosted the Occupational Health and Safety (OHS) Summit in 2014, where tripartite
stakeholders reviewed the performance of OHS and developed action plans to improve the OHS
performance in the South African mining industry. The year 2014 was also the reporting year on
the progress made in the last ten years, since the 2003 summit, on the milestones to improve
OHS in the mining industry.

MINE HEALTH AND SAFETY COUNCIL

Thrust area

Project topics

Transport and
Machinery

Vehicle to Person Detection Collision Avoidance – Underground Operations

Human Factors/
Behavioural
Safety

Occupational
Diseases

Monitor behavioural change related to adoption of leading practices

Proximity Detection System (PDS) Machine Interface
Noise Controls for Mining Equipment

Digital X-ray readings for medical surveillance

Health & Safety Impacts on Socio Economic Conditions in SAMI
Iyashisa Game: Thermal Stress Management

Summit
Initiatives
Projects

Safety & Security Challenges Impacting on Women in the Mining Industry
Right to Refuse Dangerous Work
Accident Investigation

Employee Awareness on Mining Charter
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Table 1: Research projects from the 2013/14 financial year, multi-year projects

MINE HEALTH AND SAFETY COUNCIL

During the 2014/15 financial year, the MHSC continued to undertake new OHS research projects as well
as continuation projects from the previous financial year. The projects are indicated in the tables below:
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The Centre of Excellence was officially launched at the 2014 Occupational Health and Safety
Summit held in November 2014. The MHSC will be conducting quick win research projects under
the Centre of Excellence. The MHSC has partnered with at least the following partners to conduct
research projects under the CoE:
• University of the Witwatersrand (WITS);
• University of Pretoria (UP);
• Centre for Scientific and Industrial Research (CSIR); and
• National Institute of Occupational Health (NIOH).

Table 2: New research projects which commenced in the 2014/15 financial year
Thrust area
Rockfalls

Project topics

Training on the technology transfer on support design in the Bushveld Complex
Identify opportunities to improve the safety of barring-down practices

Integration of the South African National Seismograph Network and Database
with Mining Networks as per the recommendations in Chapter 1 of the
Presidential Mine and Safety Audit 2008; Phase 2

Rockbursts
Physical
Hazards

Occupational
Diseases

Fluid-induced seismicity in the Central Basin Area: ground motion prediction and
the development of an early warning system for risk reduction
Technology transfer on minimising seismic risk in the platinum mines
Develop feasible methodologies to aid escape in poor visibility in
underground environments

Operational Manual on the revised Guideline COP for Personal Exposure to
Airborne Pollutants
What is the Impact of Anti-Retro Viral (ARV) drugs and Human
Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV) on the auditory system?

Adverse health impacts associated with dust emissions from mine tailings Year 3
Special
Projects
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Summit
Initiatives
Projects

Handbook on Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) For Women in Mining
(WIM)
Development of a South African Minimum Standard on Ground Vibration,
Noise, Air blast and Fly rock Near Surface Structures to be protected
TB Leading Practices

Analysis of the 2013 Occupational Health Milestone

Development of promotional material for prevention Sexual Harassment in
the South African Mining Industry (SAMI)
Review of training for OHS Reps and Shop Stewards
Summit Handbook for the Road to Zero Harm

The Identification, Selection and Promotion of TB Leading Practices in the
South African Mining Industry (SAMI)
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Out of the 28 projects mentioned above, the following seven research projects were completed in
the 2014/15 financial year:
1. Noise Controls for Mining Equipment;
2. Monitor behaviour change related to adoption of leading practices;
3. Safety and security challenges impacting women;
4. Iyashisa Game: Thermal Stress Management;
5. Analysis of the 2013 Occupational Health Milestone;
6. Summit Handbook: Road to Zero Harm; and
7. Right to Refuse Dangerous Work.

Four projects were stopped due to the fact that no further research work can be done on
the projects. Based on the work done from the milestones completed on the halted projects,
knowledge and technology transfer opportunities were identified and recommendations made.
These are currently in the process of implementation. The other 18 projects are in various stages
of completion.
The MHSC continues to play a pivotal role to improve regulatory framework, oversee research
and promote Occupational Health and Safety in the mining industry. The mining industry will have
to continuously look at new methods, best practice and technologies, to exploit the abundant
mineral resources, without negatively impacting on the health and safety of mining workers and
communities.

8.2 Finance
The finance business unit is responsible for the day to day transactional accounting for the MHSC.
This includes the tracking of all transactions and the management of any related reporting. The
finance business unit contributes to the management and improvement of the operations by
measuring and reporting monthly on financial indicators crucial to the success of the MHSC.

Oversight role on budgetary control and reporting led to the MHSC’s review of its operations
budget and realignments resulted in underspending of the budget by 14% as compared to the
target of 10%.
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During the financial year 2014/15 there were improvements in making payments to suppliers in line
with National Treasury guidelines. Credit control efficiencies resulted into 98% of the debtors’ book
being collected and included in the 98% is 96% for new levies raised in the 2014/15 financial year.
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The effectiveness and institutionalisation of the SCM is not out of the woods as yet. Though there
is remarkable progress from elimination of irregular expenditure as compared to the 2012/13 and
2013/14 financial years, the SCM is still working towards the fulfillment of compliance within the
speedy procurement of goods and services. The use of identified strategic sourcing elements such
as the use of National Treasury’s transversal contracts, term contracting and pre-qualification will
help to alleviate the current challenges. The MHSC is also investing on the on-going training of
all the SCM role players.
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The finance business is also the custodian of the MHSC’s Supply Chain Management (SCM)
section. The focus in this section is to provide services such as strategic sourcing, standard
operating procedures, and policies to ensure compliance with SCM and various pieces of
legislation, and the speedy procurement of quality goods and services at the good prices and at
the right time.

8.3 Corporate Services
The role of Corporate Services is to render support services in terms of human capital management,
internal and external communication and promotion, records management, facilities management
and security of the MHSC. The general objective is to render support and create efficiencies for
core departments to achieve the MHSC objectives.
In 2014/15, the human resource sub-unit focussed on climate surveys and organisational wide
developmental initiatives intended to improve staff morale such as: capacity building initiatives for
MHSC, including recruitment of key personnel, training and development, team building, affective
and strategic performance management systems, job grading.
To enhance the effectiveness of document management systems as part of information and
knowledge management at the MHSC, the records management sub-unit was established and
reinforced with the appointment of the Records Manager. The MHSC has since developed a
records management policy and procedure which are currently being considered for approval. As
a result there is a notable improvement in the filing system within the MHSC.
In line with the approved Communications and Promotion strategy as per the MHSC mandate to
increase the awareness on OHS through the Promotion of a Culture of Health and Safety in the
mining industry, the MHSC has participated in various events during the 2014/15 as indicated in
section 10.
As part of MHSC’s staff induction programme participation there were two underground mine
visits in Carletonville and Doornkop mines in Gauteng Province.
ANNUAL REPORT 2014/2015

As part of the communication and promotion initiatives, the MHSC was able to interact with
stakeholders at regional tripartite forums to further promote the mandate and role of the MHSC.
There is a continuing engagement with existing with Regional Tripartite Forums in terms of
providing support to promote improvement on Health and Safety Matters in the mining Industry.
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The Mine Health and Safety Council will be starting with a programme of commemoration of
mine disasters. This will acknowledge the selfless, valuable contribution of mine workers to
the economy of South Africa, and ensuring that we continuously remind ourselves of where we
come from and sharing our learnings from the past to prevent possible recurrence of unfortunate
incidents that occurred in the past.
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8.3.1 Human Resources
The MHSC staff complement is 43 permanent employees inclusive of five contract posts for the
Regional Facilitators as detailed below in Tables 4 and 5. Human Resources is continuously
building capacity for MHSC through the implementation of a variety of interventions such as
recruitment, training and development, and employee empowerment.
As part of employee wellness, the MHSC has an employee assistance programme with Careways.
Table 3: Comparison of staff profile – 2013/14 and 2014/15

Research

15

Corporate
Services

8

Office of the CEO

3

Finance

Governance, Risk and
Compliance (GRC)
Total

2014/15

15

11

11

17

8

3

15

Information
Technology

2013/14

3

12

3

11

10
14

3

3

3

3

0*

3

0*

2

44

53

36

43

* GRC was part of Corporate Services in 2013/14 and is now a stand-alone Business Unit.
The staff complement in 2013/14 was 44 and increased in 2014/15 to 53 approved positions.
Table 4: Staff by level or category for each post filled – 2013/14 and 2014/15
Executive
Management

2013/14

3

2014/15

2

Senior
Management

2013/14

2

2014/15

2

Middle
Management

2013/14

9

Other Staff

2014/15

16

2013/14

22

2014/15

23

The total staff turnover for the 2014/2015 year was calculated at 18.8% however the majority
of vacancies were in the process of being filled in the year of reporting. This was as a result of
increased focus on recruitment initiatives. The breakdown of the staff turnover is shown below in
Table 5 with reasons given in Table 6.
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2014/15
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2013/14

Number of Filled Posts
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Approved Posts

Business Unit

8.3 Corporate Services (continued)
Table 5: Staff turnover as at 31 March 2015
Category
Executive Management

New Appointments
2014/15

Terminations
2014/15

Staff Movement

0

0

0

0

Senior Management

Middle Management

6

Other Staff Members

4

Total

1

0

1

0

1

10

1

3

1

Table 6: Categories for employment termination as at 31 March 2014
Reason for Termination

2013/14

Deaths

Number
0

Resignation

2014/15

7

Expiry of contract

3

0

Dismissal

6

1

Retirement

0

0

0

0
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The MHSC is investigating options to ensure improvement in compliance with the requirements of
Employment Equity. There was a significant decrease in staff resignations in 2014/15 from seven
to three as compared to the 2013/14 financial year, which translates to improvement of 57%.
Table 7: Employment Equity summary as at 31 March 2015
MALES 2014/2015
Category

White

African

Coloured

Indian

20
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Number

Percentage

Number

Percentage

Number

Percentage

Number

Percentage

Executive
Management

0

0%

2

100%

0

0%

0

0%

Senior
Management

0

0%

2

100%

0

0%

0

0%

Middle
Management

0

0%

5

100%

0

0%

0

0%

Other Staff
Members

0

0%

7

100%

0

0%

0

0%

The MHSC is investigating options to ensure compliance with the requirements of the Employment
Equity. Table 8 shows the demographic analysis of the MHSC staff. Efforts are currently underway
to correct gender balance at Executive level, and to improve female mobility at the MHSC to attain
equitable representation at the different management categories.

FEMALES 2014/2015
Category

White

African

Coloured

Indian

Number

Percentage

Number

Percentage

Number

Percentage

Number

Percentage

Executive
Management

0

0%

0

0

0

0%

0

0%

Senior
Management

0

0%

0

0

0

0%

0

0%

Middle
Management

0

0%

7

87%

0

0%

1

13%

Other Staff
Members

2

11%

15

79%

1

5%

1

5%

8.4 Information and Communication Technology (ICT)
The ICT unit supports strategic business direction of MHSC in terms of ICT and also ensures
that MHSC is able to execute its mandate. The ICT Unit contributes in the role of ensuring that
information dissemination is achieved through various platforms including the website portal.

The projects listed below were implemented during the 2014/2015 reporting period which have
contributed in improving the stability of the ICT environment within MHSC. They include:
• Server revamp and office cabling;
• Network switches upgrade;
• Knowledge Management System;
• Enterprise Project Management;
• Fibre internet connectivity with backup microwave link; and
• Multi printing photocopying and scanning machine projects.
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In the period of reporting, ICT performance has gained significant momentum through various
initiatives which include:
• All ICT projects complied with approved Project Assurance Charter;
• An Independent Technical member has been appointed to serve on the Information
Technology Steering Committee (ITSC);
• Continuously testing of the Business Continuity and Disaster Recovery Plans;
• Monitoring and addressing identified risks registered in the operational and strategic
risk register;
• Regularly reviewing and testing approved policies and procedures to ensure compliance
and adherence;
• Timeously addressing findings relating to IT Systems and Governance; and
• Continuously reviewing new technologies which will assist in effective delivery of
MHSC’s mandate.
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The MHSC adheres and conforms to best practice frameworks and standards’ and is in compliance
with the ICT framework as stipulated by the Department of Public Service and Administration (DPSA).
MHSC management has furthermore reinforced the Information Technology Steering Committee
(ITSC) by appointing an independent technical expert to serve on the committee as Chairperson.
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The unit’s core function is to provide stable IT Infrastructure,provide front end desk support, and
manage risks across all ICT systems and operations.
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9. MHSC PERFORMANCE
REPORT
The Mine Health and Safety Council revised its strategic priorities by taking the following into
account:
• Opportunities and challenges facing the broader mining industry;
• Past performance of the Mine Health and Safety Council and progress made on the
strategic objectives;
• A review of the relevance and efficacy of existing strategic objectives;
• The mandate of the MHSC and its statutory committees;
• A review of the MHSC’s internal strengths and weaknesses; and
• Current and future opportunities and challenges facing occupational health and safety in
the mining industry.
MHSC developed and successfully implemented the Balanced Scorecard (BSC) approach
to monitor performance against the strategic objectives. The core principles of the four key
perspectives within the BSC are shown below in Figure 2.
Figure 2: Principles of the BSC approach

Four key cluster of objectives that focus on day-to-day operations; development
of products and services to meet the customer needs and assist in customer
relationship management.

LEARNING AND GROWTH
Growth in human capital: information capital is critical to the success of any and
all organisations. Focusing on skills and capacity development to ensure Council
efficiency and effectiveness.

FINANCIAL PERSPECTIVE
To ensure financial sustainability through revenue collection; reducing operational
costs and managing financial risks. Also ensuring efficient and effective utilisation
of financial resources.
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INTERNAL BUSINESS
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Focus on customer satisfaction to ensure that stakeholder’s needs are satisfied
and MHSC remains relevant and continues to discharge its mandate. Promotion
and communication of Council activities to customers or stakeholders becomes
critical.
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CUSTOMER PERSPECTIVE

A five-year rolling MHSC Strategic Plan was approved by members of the MHSC and implemented
during the period under review. Figure 3 below illustrates the strategic objectives within the four
key perspectives of the BSC.
Figure 3: MHSC Strategy Map for 2014/15

FINANCIAL

LEARNING
AND
GROWTH

FO 1

LO 1
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Ensure
efficient and
effective utilisation
of financial
resources

CUSTOMER/
STAKEHOLDER

IPO 1

Ensure financial
sustainability and
viability of MHSC

FO 2

INTERNAL
PROCESSES

Ensure MHSC
office staff and
Council Members
have adequate
skills and required
competencies
through continuous
development

Improving
turnaround time
for procurement of
services
IPO 2

Enhance
effectiveness
of employee
performance
management
process

CO 1

Delivery against
MHSC mandate
and MHSC Summit
action plans on
OHS to ensure
stakeholder
satisfaction

IPO 3
LO 2

24
MINE HEALTH AND SAFETY COUNCIL

Improve climate
and environment to
make it conducive
for good staff
morale within MHSC

Deliver MHSC
projects on Brief,
Budget and Time
(BBT)

IPO 4

Implement
knowledge and
information
management
system to
support staff and
stakeholders

CO 2

Promote and
communicate
MHSC programmes
to improve OHS
awareness

9.1 Performance Overview
The 2014/15 financial year was the year of review of progress for 2003 milestones. New bold
milestones have been set with comprehensive action plans for implementation for the next ten
years. The plans will be subject to review every two years. Supply chain management, which
is responsible for procurement of services for the MHSC, still requires more attention to ensure
efficiency and effectiveness of the organisation.
The MHSC has implemented various initiatives to address organisational climate issues, and
there have been various levels of success in the effectiveness of these initiatives. This is an
area that requires more attention to improve organisational cohesion and creating a productive
conducive environment.

9.2 Project Achievements and Progress on Research
The following sections provide a summary of the highlights of OHS research work completed in
2014/15.

SIM 130102: “Leading Practice Behaviour Monitoring Model”

SIM 120501: “Noise Control on Mine Machinery”
This project’s objective was to show how noise levels can be reduced by installing appropriately
designed silencers and to develop a methodology for measuring sound on surface and project
what the equivalent sound level would be in the underground environment.

25

A survey model (or instrument) was suggested, which monitors aspects of behaviour, such
as effective relationships, communication, technical abilities, ethical behaviour and emotional
intelligence. The survey instrument was also confirmed to be valid and reliable for measuring and
comparing behaviours in the leading practice adoption system.

MINE HEALTH AND SAFETY COUNCIL

The purpose of this study was to find the best possible way to monitor behaviour change from
interventions related to the people-centred adoptions of leading practices in South African mines,
and to develop a survey instrument that is valid and reliable for measuring and comparing
behaviours of leaders’ and those affected by the adoption of leading practice in the mining industry.
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Over the past few years, the MHSC has invested in the changing of the human behaviour in the
work place, as this was identified as having a major influence on the Health and Safety performance
in the mines. The next logical step was to research the way people’s behaviour change could be
determined and monitored in order to measure the effectiveness of the interventions that have
been made available to the people on the mines.

9.2 Project Achievements and Progress on Research (continued)
Figure 4 shows the scrubber with and without silencers on both the intake and exhaust sides. Sound
measurements were undertaken, both on surface and underground, and for the configuration with
and without silencers. Table 1 below shows the noise level measurements in the underground
environment.

Figure 4: Evaluation scrubber without silencers (left) and with silencers fitted (right)
Table 8: Underground measurement results
Location
Front

Front Left
Left

Rear Left

Unsilenced [dBA]

Silenced [dBA]

105.9

89.1

109.9
106.8

92.1
89.4
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102.5

92.0

Rear

99.4

90.6

Rear Right

99.1

89.9

Right

100.2

90.1

Front Right

108.9

89.4

It is clear from the results that the use of silencers reduces sound levels significantly.
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The predicted or projected sound level underground, using surface figures, was found to be
within 7% of the surface figures; and it can be concluded that the underground noise level could
be successfully predicted using measurements on surface. This technique could therefore
be developed further for use by Occupational Equipment Manufacturers to predict and thus
appropriately design out, undesirable noise levels.

SIM 130901: “What are the socio-economic conditions that impact on the
Safety and Health of South African mine workers?”
The project aimed to highlight the risks evident in the living conditions and other factors that are
associated with the socio-economic status of mine workers, along with the effects that these have
on the health and safety of mine workers. This would allow intervention efforts to be prioritised,
which would in turn, lead to improved health and safety in the industry.
Health challenges that were evident in the industry included HIV/AIDS; TB and other communicable
diseases; diseases of lifestyle, such as high blood pressure and diabetes; respiratory disease;
and alcohol abuse. These were associated with various socio-economic and living condition
factors, including educational levels, nutrition, the migrant labour system, overcrowded dwellings,
and a lack of services and facilities.
Safety challenges included behaviour, non-compliance with rules, taking of shortcuts, stress that
led to a lack of concentration and fatigue. These were linked with socio-economic and living
conditions including the high levels of risk faced outside of the workplace; lack of education and
understanding; financial strain and indebtedness; chasing of bonuses; poor living conditions; long
commuting distances; and a lack of sleep.

It is important to note that many of the challenges that were observed in this study and the associated
recommendations, are already being addressed through various initiatives in the industry. These
include those of the MPRDA, the Mining Charter, the approved Culture Transformation Framework
(CTF), the Framework Agreement for a Sustainable Mining Industry, which was entered into by
organised labour, organised business and government in 2013, companies’ and Chamber of
Mines initiatives, such as the Mining Industry Occupational Safety and Health (MOSH) leading
practices and the various initiatives of the MHSC.
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The areas which impacted the most on the socio-economic conditions of mine workers were:
• Improved communication and employee engagement;
• Review of remuneration and production bonuses using the existing mechanisms in the
industry;
• Improvement in the management of contractors;
• Employee indebtedness and financial education programmes;
• Education and skills development programmes;
• Housing and progress monitoring of the Mining Charter and Framework Agreement for a
Sustainable Mining Industry; and
• Awareness of employee wellness programmes.
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Recommendations for changes to the socio-economic conditions and living conditions and
their potential impact on the health, safety and productivity of mine workers were made. The
implementation of these is expected to bring about improvements to health, safety and productivity
in the industry. The recommendations should be considered in light of initiatives that are taking
place in the industry currently.

9.2 Project Achievements and Progress on Research (continued)
SIM 130903: “Safety and security challenges impacting on women in the
South African mining industry”
The objective of this study was to develop guidelines to assist the South African Mining Industry
(SAMI) to adopt and implement robust and effective prevention strategies of gender based
violence and sexual harassment as important safety and security challenges faced by women in
the SAMI. The ‘safety’ referred to in this document is not the safety from the harm due to mining
activity hazards, such as fall of ground or machinery, but safety from harm that might be caused
by fellow workers, typically male on female physical and psychological harm. As a result, women
workers do not feel safe and secure in the workplace. This study aims to recommend interventions
that would prevent the prevalence of such gender related violence and sexual harassment.
The study recommended a three-tier strategy to combat sexual harassment and gender violence
at work, as follows:
•

•

•

Primary intervention; which is based on a proactive risk assessment approach, resulting in
the implementation of mitigative measures to prevent or minimise the occurrence of gender
violence and sexual harassment at work;
Secondary intervention; which is reactive, but investigates the incidents of gender violence
and sexual harassment, setting the environment where victims feel free and secure to
report and give evidence without fear or intimidation; and
Tertiary intervention, which deals with the aftermath of sexual harassment and workplace
gender violence victims and perpetrators alike.
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Policy
With regards to policy, it is recommended that the mining sector should develop, enforce, and
evaluate a code of practice for effective prevention and management of violence and sexual
harassment against all mine workers. For that purpose, it is recommended that guidelines be
developed as the primary output of the current study which can in turn be used by the regulator to
formulate a code of practice for the mining sector and be made available to all key stakeholders
in the sector.
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Practice
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With regards to practice, it is recommended that current policies and procedures on workplace
violence and sexual harassment in the mines should be reviewed, updated and aligned with
evidence-based data from the current study. Furthermore, the mines must consider the adoption
of the guidelines given above.

SIM 130904: “New approaches to induct employees in the mining sector
on dangers related to thermal stress and preventative measures – training
delegates to play Iyashisa Game”
Heat related illnesses are still one of the challenges in the underground mining environment
despite significant advances in underground cooling and ventilation technology. Heat cramps are
currently the most reported heat related illness.

Although not a fatal illness, it may influence underground mine worker’s ability to evacuate areas
during emergencies or incur injuries when a worker experiences heat cramps. The prevalence
of heat cramps can also serve as an indicator that the thermo regulatory system of underground
mine workers is under stress, either due to ineffective underground heat management control
procedures, or behavioural practices of underground mine workers.
The practical and hands-on approach used in the Iyashisa board game provides an alternative
approach, or in combination with the current classroom induction approach, to induct underground
mine workers on best practice control procedures and required behavioural techniques to prevent
heat related illnesses in the underground mine environment. An added advantage of the Iyashisa
board game is that other health and safety factors are also incorporated in the game. Underground
mine workers playing the game are therefore not only exposed to learning material on heat related
factors, but also to safety and general well-being issues.
The objective of this research was to develop a board game (similar to the game of Snakes and
Ladders), as an additional training tool for heat stress management in the mining industry. The
game would be tested for effectiveness in knowledge retention and improvement of employee’s
work place competency levels during playing of the game. The MHSC has started to distribute
the Iyashisa game to all relevant mines in South Africa, through the Regional Tripartite Forums.

The handbook also forms part of celebrating and reflecting on 20 years of democracy in South
Africa and the 18 years of existence of the MHSA. As such, the development of the handbook was
necessary to showcase the role that the MHSC plays in the mining sector towards improving the
OHS. Over 1000 copies of the handbooks were published and distributed at the MHSC’s 2014
OHS Summit. The handbook on the South African Mining Journey to Zero Harm emphasised the
measures that the tripartite stakeholders have undertaken to assist the mining industry in making
significant progress on occupational health and safety.
The handbook reflects on the critical developments of the MHSC and its role in helping to
improve the mining industry. Stakeholder’s emphasised the importance of continued collaboration
to achieve the goal of ZERO HARM and to ensure that every mineworker returns from work
unharmed every day.
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The handbook was made up of chapters focusing on the History of SAMI
and the MHSA, the establishment and composition of the MHSC, sector
initiatives, previous research work, Culture Transformation Framework,
Centre of Excellence (CoE) and the Summit Action Plan. The book was written in dedication to all
mine workers who have lost their lives during the course of mining operations.
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The MHSC appointed a service provider to undertake research
on some of the achievements of the MHSC and publish this in a
handbook that will tell the story of the journey of the mining industry
and its stakeholders towards Zero Harm. To ensure that the handbook
is relevant and informative, researchers held interviews with various
tripartite stakeholders, key MHSC executives and the Minister of Mineral
Resources.
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Summit Handbook entitled:
South African Mining Industry Journey to Zero Harm

Development of Promotional Material on Prevention of Sexual
Harassment Project
Due to the increase in the number of sexual harassment cases reported, and the killing of
women in the mining industry, the MHSC undertook a project to develop promotional materials
highlighting issues of sexual harassment to raise awareness. A researcher was appointed to
undertake the development of promotional material on sexual harassment in the mining industry.
The researcher was requested to conduct a needs analysis on 20 mines on sexual harassment,
to inform the development of a booklet, poster and ten minute video on the project.
The aim of the project was to get an understanding of what is happening at the mines in terms of
gender discrimination and sexual harassment. The researcher interacted with many stakeholders
including mines, organisations such as Women in Mining South Africa (WIMSA) and the South
Africa Women in Mining Association (SAWIMA) to gather more of a true representation of the data
and information.
Based on the outcomes, it was clear that more women are taking up opportunities to enter the
mining sector and this is seen as a sign of progress towards achieving gender equality in work
opportunities in the sector. However, unless women can be assured of a safe, fair and conducive
work environment, free from discrimination and harassment, true transformation cannot be
attained.
The research has recommended that the DVD stemming from the promotional materials of sexual
harassment project be utilised as a technology transfer element and that this be used as an
induction training tool to raise awareness on the issues of sexual harassment.
ANNUAL REPORT 2014/2015

One of the recommendations from the project was that a guideline on sexual harassment for the
mining industry be developed. The guideline and DVD will be launched at the MHSC Women
in Mining Conference or Workshop to be held in the next financial year. Finally, the outcome
recommended that to further highlight issues of sexual harassment in all mines, the booklet
be translated into other South African languages such as seSesotho and isiZulu. It was also
recommended that the Mining Qualifications Authority be requested to develop an interactive
training programme (short courses) focusing on sexual harassment in the mining industry.
Sexual Harassment Booklet
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Sexual
Harassment
DVD

Sexual Harassment Poster
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10. MHSC STRATEGIC
OBJECTIVES
During the period under review, the following highlights were reported against the below-mentioned
strategic objectives. In order to assist the interpretation of the performance analysis, the MHSC
determines performance as shown in Figure 5 below.
Figure 5: Legend for Performance Rating

LEGEND

≥ 80%

< 70%

70-80%

If the performance ≥
80% of the planned
target then it is
considered
as ACHIEVED

If the performance is
between 70% and 80%
of the planned target
then it is considered as
PARTIALLY ACHIEVED

If the performance is
< 70% of the planned
target then it is
considered as NOT
ACHIEVED

Level of
stakeholder
satisfaction
based on
conducted
survey score

ACTUAL

3

3.3

% OF
TARGET
OBTAINED
>100%

STATUS
Achieved

Formulae: (Aggregate Survey Score Rating on a scale of 1-5 across a
representative respondent sample in the mining sector)

Achievements:
• The survey addressing industry needs analysis was developed in April 2014 and
incorporated the inputs from Stakeholder Convenors.
• The survey was administered during the 2014 Occupational Health and Safety Summit in
November 2014.
• The MHSC conducted an industry needs analysis through Council members and Principals
which was approved.
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Delivery against
MHSC mandate
and MHSC
Summit Action
Plans on OHS
to ensure
stakeholder
satisfaction

MEASURE

TARGET FOR
THE YEAR
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PERSPECTIVE (C01)
Customer/Stakeholder

STRATEGIC
OBJECTIVE
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The details against each of the objectives is provided below for each objective:

STRATEGIC
OBJECTIVE

MEASURE

TARGET FOR
THE YEAR

ACTUAL

% OF
TARGET
OBTAINED

STATUS

Achievements:
• The following OHS legislative advice notes were developed by MHSC and submitted to the
Minister:
1. Guideline for the compilation of a Mandatory Code of Practice (COP) for the
Management of Cyanide;
2. Guideline for the compilation of a Mandatory Code of Practice (COP) for the
Management of Thermal Stress;
3. Guidelines for the Compilation of a Mandatory Code of Practice on the Rights to
Refuse Dangerous Work and Leave a Dangerous Working Place;
4. Explosive Regulations;
5. Mines Rescue Services Regulations;
6. Personal Protective Equipment for Women Guideline; and
7. Advisory note on research programme per 2014/15 financial year.
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The following advice reports were developed and approved by the MHSC:
1. Advisory note on Mining Charter Guidance document;
2. Advisory note on the promotional material for Prevention of Sexual Harassment in the
South African Mining Industry;
3. Advisory note on Explore Policy Options to reduce negative impact of migration on
mine workers;
4. Advisory note on Allow the Mining Sector Health Care Workers access to all DoH
Electronic TB and Manual Register;
5. Advisory note on Re-examine the return to risk work of miners with HIV/AIDS, TB and Silicosis;
6. Advisory note on Investigating the capacity and possibility of mine hospitals extending
services to the communities;
7. Advisory note on Noise controls on mine machines; and
8. Advisory note on Safety and Security impacting women in the South African Mining Industry.

•

The following advice reports on MHSC-specific actions from the Summit were developed
and approved by Council:
1. Advisory note on lessons learned on Occupational Health and Safety Milestone
Reporting and Monitoring.

•

The MHSC reviewed and reported on the Health and Safety milestones for 2013, set in
2003 at the 2014 Mine Occupational Health and Safety Summit held in November 2014.
The USA trip on Shale Gas was put on hold taking into account the developments at the
Department of Mineral Resources as leading entity and stakeholder on the development
of relevant legislation on Shale gas, development of relevant regulations postponed to the
next financial year.

PERSPECTIVE (C01)
Customer/Stakeholder
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•

•

Variance:
The target was achieved.

Promotion and
communication
of initiatives to
mining sector

TARGET FOR
THE YEAR

ACTUAL

80%

100%

% OF
TARGET
OBTAINED
>100%

STATUS
Achieved

Achievements:
• The Communication and Promotion Strategic Plan was revised and approved by Council.
• The following initiatives or events as per the communication and promotion plan were
executed or implemented:
1. Hosted a successful 2014 Mine Occupational Health and safety Summit in
Johannesburg, Gauteng Province;
2. NUM Regional Workshop to create awareness about issues on Women in Mining and
Personal Protective Equipment (PPE);
3. NUM Health and Safety Commemoration Day in North West Province;
4. Participation in Coal Safe Conference in Johannesburg, Gauteng Province;
5. Participation in the Mine Safe Conference in Johannesburg, Gauteng Province;
6. Participation in the World AIDS Day and HIV/AIDS Awareness Event in Welkom, Free
State and North West Provinces;
7. Participation in the Mining Lekgotla in Johannesburg, Gauteng Province;
8. Participation in Mining Indaba in Cape Town, Western Cape Province;
9. Participation in the TB Awareness Day Event in Doornkop Gauteng Province; and
10. Participation in TB consultative workshop in Limpopo Province.
Variance:
• The target was achieved.
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Formulae: (Number of executed promotion and communication programmes/
number of planned promotion and communication programmes) X 100
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PERSPECTIVE (C02)
Customer/Stakeholder

Promote and
communicate
MHSC
programmes to
improve OHS
awareness

MEASURE
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STRATEGIC
OBJECTIVE

STRATEGIC
OBJECTIVE

MEASURE

Improving
Services
turnaround time
procurement
for procurement
turnaround time
of services to
ensure delivery by
MHSC

TARGET FOR
THE YEAR

ACTUAL

45 days for
open tender

83 days for
open tender

10 days for
RFQ

17 days for
RFQ

% OF
TARGET
OBTAINED

>45 days for
open tender

STATUS
Not
Achieved

>10 days for
RFQ

PERSPECTIVE (IP01)
Internal Process

Formulae: (Number of days between sending/publicising a request for
proposals/quotations and signing the SLA with the service provider)

Achievements:
• Annual Demand Procurement Plan was submitted to National Treasury in April 2014.
• The Supply Chain Management Policy was revised and approved by Council.
Variance:
The target was not achieved due to the following:
• There was a need for committee members to participate in the procurement process. Due
to the infancy of the participation of the Advisory committee members, progress in the
procurement process was slow.
• There was also instability with the personnel within supply chain management due to use
of contract personnel whilst struggling to fill the positions permanently.
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Enhance
effectiveness
of employee
performance
management
process

Quarterly staff
appraisals
conducted

100%

96%

96%

Achieved

Formulae: (Number of staff appraisals conducted/total staff appraisals due
that quarter) X 100

Achievements:
• Quarterly assessments were conducted and submitted to Human Resource Management
within 30 days after the end of the quarter.
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Variance:
• The target was achieved.

MINE HEALTH AND SAFETY COUNCIL

STRATEGIC
OBJECTIVE

PERSPECTIVE (IP03)
Internal Process

Deliver MHSC
projects on Brief,
Budget and Time
(BBT)

MEASURE

TARGET FOR
THE YEAR

ACTUAL

83%

89%

Project
milestones
delivered within
budget and
time allocation
and to required
quality standard

% OF
TARGET
OBTAINED
>100%

STATUS
Achieved

Formulae: (Number of project milestones delivered on BBT/total number of
project milestones due that quarter) X 100
Achievements:
• There was a delay in the appointment of research service provider as a result project
commenced late.
• The prior year (2013/14) research projects were completed.

100%

100%

100%

Achieved

Formulae: (Number of approved deposits into the repository/number of
required deposits) X 100

Achievements:
• The Knowledge Management System is being implemented.
• All the approved policies, procedures and relevant reports are deposited into the system.
Variance:
• The target was achieved.

ANNUAL REPORT 2014/2015

Deposits into
the repository
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Implement
knowledge and
information
management
system to
support staff and
stakeholders

MINE HEALTH AND SAFETY COUNCIL

PERSPECTIVE (IP04)
Internal Process

Variance:
• The 2015/16 projects have been prioritised with related budgets including Summit projects.
• Enterprise Project Management is being customised for implementation in 2015/16
financial year.

PERSPECTIVE (LG01)
Learning and Growth

STRATEGIC
OBJECTIVE
Ensure MHSC
office staff and
Council Members
have adequate
skills and required
competencies
through
continuous
development

MEASURE
Employee PDP
implementation

TARGET FOR
THE YEAR

ACTUAL

75%

83%

% OF
TARGET
OBTAINED
>100%

STATUS
Achieved

Formulae: (Aggregate of the quarterly PDPs & Council development
initiatives implemented/total number of PDPs) & Council development
initiatives X 100

Achievements:
• The training needs were identified, training courses and workshops scheduled and
attendance as scheduled.
• Convenor has participated in the identification of skills gaps within the tripartite groupings
which includes both Council and its committees. The training and development plan will be
implemented in the 2015/16 financial year.
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PERSPECTIVE (LG02)
Learning and Growth

Variance:
• The target was achieved.
Improve climate
and environment
to make it
conducive for
good staff morale
within MHSC

Level of climate
and staff morale
within MHSC

75%

46%

61%

Not
Achieved

Formulae: (Aggregate workplace climate assessment survey score out of
10) X 100

Achievements:
• Implementation of the 2013/14 action plan is being done in consultation with the Union.
• The office has experienced various challenges in the implementation of some areas of the
action plan as part of engagement with Unions.
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Variance:
• Target was not met. The MHSC to complete the implementation of the action plan of the
survey.
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PERSPECTIVE (F1)
Financial

STRATEGIC
OBJECTIVE

MEASURE

Ensure financial
sustainability and
viability of MHSC

Proportion
of income
collected

TARGET FOR
THE YEAR

ACTUAL

90%

95%

% OF
TARGET
OBTAINED
>100%

STATUS
Achieved

Formulae: (Rand value of income collected/total levied for the year) X 100

Achievements:
• The data validations were conducted prior to invoicing the mines and has resulted in errors
being corrected timeously. Mine visits were also conducted to educate mines about the levies
and has resulted in mines paying their levies.

Ensure efficient
and effective
utilisation
of financial
resources

Maintain
spending in line
with approved
budget variance

10%

14%

96%

Achieved

Formulae: (Budget expenditure - Actual expenditure) / Budget X 100
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Variance:
• The target was met.
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Achievements:
• The MHSC budgeted for an underspending of 10% so as to ensure that the entity still managed to meet its liquidity obligations even if there were to be challenges with the collection of
levies. The actual is however an underspending of 15%.
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PERSPECTIVE (F2)
Financial

Variance:
• The target was met.

11. COUNCIL REPORT
The Council discharged its governance mandate through systems that ensured that management
was running the day-to-day affairs of the MHSC properly and within applicable legislative
framework.
In accordance with the Public Finance Management Act and the King III, Section 5 Report, the
Council reviewed processes followed by the management in identifying and mitigating risks
through the reports of the Audit and Risk Committee with regards to the effectiveness of the
systems of internal controls and risk management. The Council approved the yearly events
calendar that ensured that reporting was done as per legislation. The Council approved policies
that served to create certainty, fairness, accountability, responsibility and transparency.
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Mr M Munroe

Mr X Mbonambi

Dr T Legobye

Ms N Masekoa

Mr F Stehring

Dr L Ndelu

Mr M Nhlapo

Mr S Van der Woude

Mr P Coetzer

Mr S Ntshinga

Mr T Masondo

Mr E Gcilitshana
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Mr P Mardon
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Mr D Msiza
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BOARD MEMBERS
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12. COUNCIL COMMITTEES
12.1 The Mine Health and Safety Council
The MHSC board is made up of the following 15 members:
• Four members from State (Department of Mineral Resources);
• Five members from Organised Labour (National Union of Mine Workers (NUM), The United
Association of South Africa (UASA), Solidarity;
• Five members from Employers (the Chamber of Mines); and
• The MHSC is chaired by the Chief Inspector of Mines.
Table 9: MHSC attendance for mandatory meetings (excluding special meetings)
Comments on Membership
and Attendance

Mr D Msiza

4

4

Attended All

Ms N Nkhesani

4

2

Dr L Ndelu

4

3

Alternate attended for
meetings not attended

Mr M Nhlapo

4

3

Mr E Gcilitshana

4

4

Mr S Ntshinga

4

1

Mr F Stehring

2

2

Mr F van Straten

2

1

Mr P Mardon

4

2

Mr X Mbonambi

4

3

Organised Labour

Alternate attended for
meetings not attended

Alternate attended for
meetings not attended
Alternate attended for
meetings not attended
Alternate attended for
meetings not attended

Member from 1 October
2014. Alternate attended
for meetings not attended
Member from
30 September 2014.
Alternate attended for
meetings not attended
Alternate attended for
meetings not attended
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Table 9: MHSC attendance for mandatory meetings (excluding special meetings) (continued)
Member name per
Stakeholder Grouping
Employers

Total number of
scheduled
meetings

Total Meetings
Attended

Mr S van der Woude

4

4

Mr T Masondo

4

1

Mr M Munroe

4

1

Mr P Coetzer

4

2

Dr T Legobye

4

3

Comments on Membership
and Attendance
Attended All

Alternate attended for
meetings not attended
Alternate attended for
meetings not attended
Alternate attended for
meetings not attended
Alternate attended for
meetings not attended

12.2 Audit and Risk Committee (ARC)
The Committee is constituted to review the control, governance and risk management within the
Institution, established in terms of section 77 of the Public Finance Management Act (PFMA). The
attendance is reflected in Table 10 below:
Table 10: Attendance of ARC members
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Member name per
Stakeholder Grouping
State

Total number of
scheduled
meetings

Total Meetings
Attended
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Ms B Gumbu

7

3

Mr J Hugo

8

5

Ms T Sihlaba
(Chairperson)

8

8

Ms N Khumalo

8

6

Mr M Manning

8

8

Mr H Groenewald

8

Comments on Membership
and Attendance

Member until
31 December 2014

5

Independent Members
Attended All

Attended All

12.3 Safety in Mines Research Advisory Committee (SIMRAC)
This committee is responsible for advising the MHSC on research programmes needed to improve
OHS in the mining sector by reviewing OHS risks based on the statistics of prior years, evaluating
research proposals and monitoring and evaluating the implementation of MHSC research projects
or programme. Table 11 below shows SIMRAC members and the number of meetings held in
the year.
Table 11: Attendance of SIMRAC meetings
Comments on Membership
and Attendance

Mr T Ngwenya
(Chairperson)

4

1

Ms N Masekoa

4

3

Ms D Lekoba

4

0

Ms C Kekana

4

1

Mr W Motlhamme

4

4

Mr E Gcilitshana

4

2

Mr A Rikhotso

4

2

Dr R Wlodek Lipinski

4

4

Mr N Naude

4

2

Mr J Boning

4

2

Ms L Tsele

4

4

Attended All

Dr B Madolo

4

1

Mr M Biffi

4

3

Alternate attended for
meetings not attended

Mr F Malan

4

1

Mr J Booysen

4

1

Organised Labour

Employers

For meetings not attended
the Acting Chairperson
attended
Alternate attended for
meetings not attended
Alternate attended for
meetings not attended
Alternate attended for
meetings not attended
Alternate attended for
meetings not attended
Alternate attended for
meetings not attended
Alternate attended for
meetings not attended
Alternate attended for
meetings not attended
Alternate attended for
meetings not attended
Alternate attended for
meetings not attended

Alternate attended for
meetings not attended
Alternate attended for
meetings not attended
Alternate attended for
meetings not attended
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12.4 Mining Regulation Advisory Committee (MRAC)
Advices to the MHSC on reviewing, developing or amending legislation that impact OHS in the
South African Mining industry is through MRAC. In addition the committee also considers and
develops guidelines for Codes of Practice. Table 12 below shows members of MRAC and the
number of meetings held in the year.
Table 12: Attendance of MRAC meetings
Member name per
Stakeholder Grouping
State

Total number of
scheduled
meetings

Total Meetings
Attended

Comments on Membership
and Attendance

Mr X Mbonambi

4

3

Mr A Coutinho

4

4

Mr G Ndamse

4

3

Ms B Senabe

4

3

Mr P Mardon

4

4

Attended All

Mr A van Heerden

4

4

Attended All

Mr A van Rooyen

4

3

Member from June 2014

Ms M Llale

4

2

Alternate attended for
meetings not attended

Mr A van Achterbergh

4

4

Attended All

Mr J Coetzee

4

2

Mr K Barnard

4

1

Alternate attended for
meetings not attended

Mr T Twala

4

1

Mr M Veti

4

1

Ms E Iscenschmid

4

0

Mr F Nkuna

4

4

Alternate attended for
meetings not attended
Attended All
Attended All
Alternate attended for
meetings not attended
Alternate attended for
meetings not attended

Employers
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Employers

Member resigned in August
2014
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Replaced by M Veti in July
2014
Member from July 2014
Alternate attended for
meetings not attended

12.5 Mining Occupational Health Advisory Committee (MOHAC)
This committee advises the Council on occupational health issues that impact mine workers
through reviewing of policies, regulatory mechanism, standard systems and procedures for
assessing, avoiding, controlling and minimising occupational health risks. Members’ attendance
of MOHAC and the number of meetings held in the year is shown in Table 13.
Table 13: Attendance at MOHAC for the year
Comments on Membership
and Attendance

Dr L Ndelu
(Chairperson)

8

8

Attended All

Dr D Mokoboto

8

8

Attended All

Ms D Lekoba

8

8

Attended All

Ms C Kekana

8

8

Attended All

Mr N Mokhonoana

8

7

Ms E Iscenschmid

4

0

Alternate attended for
meetings not attended

Mr A Letshele

8

4

Ms H van Vuuren

8

8

Mr D Selebogo

8

6

Mr I Sakala

8

5

Mr P Mira

8

3

Dr K Baloyi

8

8

Attended All

Mr M Beukes

8

7

Dr Z Eloff

8

7

Alternate attended for
meetings not attended

Prof C Badenhorst

8

8

Dr M Radaba

8

6

Organised Labour

Employers

Alternate attended for
meetings not attended
Alternate attended for
meetings not attended
Attended All

Alternate attended for
meetings not attended
Alternate attended for
meetings not attended
Alternate attended for
meetings not attended

Alternate attended for
meetings not attended
Attended All

Alternate attended for
meetings not attended
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12.6 Mining Industry TB and HIV/AIDS Committee (MITHAC)
This committee advises MHSC on TB and HIV/AIDS policies in order to improve performance of
the mining industry on related matters. The committee composition for the year was as indicated
in Table 14.
Table 14: MITHAC Attendance for the year
Member name per
Stakeholder Grouping
State

Total number of
scheduled
meetings

Total Meetings
Attended

Dr L Ndelu
(Chairperson)

5

5

Mr M Sekoele

5

5

Ms M Hlapane

5

3

Ms B Senabe

5

3

Dr D Mokoboto

5

4

Mr C Mkhumane

5

1

Mr I Sakala

5

3

Mr A Thobela

5

3

Adv H Van Vuuren

5

1

Ms M Llale

5

0

Dr L Rametsi

5

0

Ms S Ntimbane

5

1

Dr J Steele

5

5

Dr T Legobye

5

0

Dr K Baloyi

5

2

Organised Labour
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Employers

Comments on Membership
and Attendance
Alternate attended for
meetings not attended
Alternate attended for
meetings not attended
Alternate attended for
meetings not attended
Alternate attended for
meetings not attended
Alternate attended for
meetings not attended
Alternate attended for
meetings not attended
Alternate attended for
meetings not attended
Alternate attended for
meetings not attended
Alternate attended for
meetings not attended
Alternate attended for
meetings not attended
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Alternate attended for
meetings not attended
Alternate attended for
meetings not attended
Attended All

Alternate attended for
meetings not attended
Alternate attended for
meetings not attended

12.7 Culture Transformation Advisory Committee (CTAC)
This committee advises MHSC on the implementation of the Culture Transformation Framework
as well as on the initiatives of the Tripartite Summit Action Plan on Occupational Health and
Safety. The committee composition for the year was as follows in Table 15.
Table 15: CTAC Attendance for the year
Comments on Membership
and Attendance

Ms N Masekoa
(Chairperson)

10

10

Attended All

Mr P Huma

Ms D Lekoba

10
10

10

Attended All

Mr M Litlhakanyane

10

10

Attended All

Dr D Mokoboto

5

4

Alternate attended for
meetings not attended

Mr M Nhlapo
(Convenor)

10

7

Alternate member attended

Mr L McMaster

10

10

Attended All

Mr F van Straten

10

9

Alternate member attended

Dr S Phakathi
(Convenor)

10

10

Attended All

Mr B Mongoma

10

10

Attended All

Mr G van der
Westhuyzen

10

0

Member never attended a
meeting

Ms L De Bruin

10

7

Attended only 7 meetings

Mr J Pienaar

10

3

Attended only 3 meetings

Mr N Ndlala

10

0

Member never attended a
meeting

10

Organised Labour

Attended All

Employers

Professional Association
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12.8 Human Resources Remuneration and Advisory Committee
(HRRAC)
This Committee advises the MHSC on human resources matters in general including the
remuneration of employees.
Table 16: HRRAC attendance for the year
Member Name per
Stakeholder grouping *
State

Total number of
scheduled meetings

Mr M Maleka

Total Meetings
Attended

3

1

Mr F van Straten

3

2

Mr L McMaster

3

2

3

3

Mr Mahuma

Organised Labour

3

1

Employers
Mr N Pienaar (Chairperson)

As per HRRAC Terms of Reference “the meeting of the committee is deemed to be quorate if
there is a minimum of two members”.

12.9 Council Effectiveness
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Under the period of review the Council continued implementing the effectiveness documents
adopted in the 2012/2013 financial year. The documents referred to are the following:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.

Council charter;
Code of practice for Council and committees;
Role of chairpersons;
Role of members; and
Competency requirement for members.
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13. ACCOUNTING AUTHORITY’S
RESPONSIBILITIES AND APPROVAL
Accounting Authority’s Responsibilities and Approval
The Council is required by the Public Finance Management Act, to maintain adequate accounting records
and is responsible for the content and integrity of the annual financial statements and related financial
information included in this report. It is the responsibility of the Council to ensure that the annual financial
statements fairly present the state of affairs of the MHSC as at the end of the financial year and the results
of its operations and cash flows for the period then ended. The external auditors are engaged to express an
independent opinion on the annual financial statements and were given unrestricted access to all financial
records and related data.
The Annual Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with Standards of Generally
Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP) including any interpretations, guidelines and directives issued by
the Accounting Standards Board.

The annual financial statements set out on pages 54 to 115 which have been prepared on the going concern
basis, were approved by the Council on 31 May 2015 and were signed on its behalf by:

Mr. T Dube						Mr. D Msiza
Chief Executive Officer					
Chairperson of the Council
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The Council is of the opinion, based on the information and explanations given by management, plus the
system of internal control provides reasonable assurance that the financial records may be relied on for the
preparation of the annual financial statements. However, any system of internal financial control can provide
only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or deficit.
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The Council acknowledges that it is ultimately responsible for the system of internal financial control
established by the MHSC and place considerable importance on maintaining a strong control environment.
To enable the Council to meet these responsibilities, the Council sets standards for internal control aimed at
reducing the risk of error or deficit in a cost effective manner. The standards include the proper delegation
of responsibilities within a clearly defined framework, effective accounting procedures and adequate
segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable level of risk. These controls are monitored throughout the
MHSC and all employees are required to maintain the highest ethical standards in ensuring the MHSC’s
business is conducted in a manner that in all reasonable circumstances is above reproach. The focus of risk
management in the MHSC is on identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring all known forms of risk
across the MHSC. While operational risk cannot be fully eliminated, the MHSC endeavours to minimise it by
ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems and ethical behaviour are applied and managed
within predetermined procedures and constraints.
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The Annual Financial Statements are based upon accounting policies consistently applied and supported by
reasonable and prudent judgments and estimates.

14. AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE
Report of the MHSC audit committee for the year ended 31 March 2015
We are pleased to present our report for the financial year ended in 31 March 2015.
Audit Committee Members and attendance
Member Name per Stakeholder
grouping
State

Total number of
scheduled
meetings

Attendance

Ms B Gumbu

7

3

Mr J Hugo

8

5

Ms T Sihlaba
(Chairperson)

8

8

Ms N Khumalo

8

6

Mr M Manning

8

8

Mr H Groenewald

8

Comments

Member until December
2014

5

Independent Members
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The Audit Committee operates in accordance with a written charter approved by the Council, and
provides assistance to the Council with regards to compliance to all the necessary and appropriate
regulatory frameworks. The Audit Committee adequately addressed its responsibilities in terms
of the charter during the period under review. The Audit Committee met eight times during the
period under review. The committee comprises of members nominated by Council stakeholders
and independent members. It is chaired by an independent chairperson.
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Audit Committee Responsibility
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The Audit Committee reports that it has complied with its responsibilities arising from section
38 (10) (1) of the Public Finance Management ACT, as amended (PFMA) and Treasury
Regulations 3.1.

Evaluation of financial statements
The committee has:
1. Reviewed and discussed the audited financial statements to be included in the annual
report with the Auditor General and the Council;
2. Reviewed the Auditor General of South Africa’s management report and management’s
response thereto;

Internal audit
The audit committee is satisfied that the internal audit function is operating effectively and that it has
addressed the risks pertinent to the MHSC and its audits.

Auditor General of South Africa
The audit committee has met with the Auditor General of South Africa to ensure that there are no unresolved
issues.

Chairman of the Audit and Risk Committee
Date: 2015-07-31
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The audit committee concur with and accept the Auditor General of South Africa’s report to the annual
financial statements, and are of the opinion that the audited annual financial statements should be accepted
and read together with the report of the Auditor General of South Africa.
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3. Reviewed changes in accounting policies and practices and reviewed the MHSC’s compliance with
legal and regulatory provisions; and
4. Reviewed significant adjustments resulting from the audit.
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15. ACCOUNTING AUTHORITY’S
REPORT
The members submit their report for the year ended 31 March 2015

15.1 Review of activities
The MHSC is established by the Mine Health and safety act and its main operations is to undertake
occupational health and safety research and advise the Minister of Mineral Resources on the better ways
to improve the health and safety of mine workers. The MHSC operates nationally in the Republic of South
Africa with its office based in Woodmead in Sandton.

15.2 Going concerns
The annual financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a
going concern. This basis presumes that funds will be available to finance future operations and that the
realization of assets and settlement of liabilities, contingent obligations and commitments will occur in the
ordinary course of business.

Members of Council are appointed by the Minister of Mineral Resources from the recommendations
submitted by the employer, state and organised labour stakeholders. As a standing procedures, members
are made to declare their interest at all meetings in which decisions are taken. For the period under review, it
has not come to the attention of the Council that there were any conflicts roles to which any of the members
was exposed to.

15.5 Accounting Authority
The members of the MHSC during the year and to date of this report are reflected in Section 24.32.

15.6 Corporate Governance
15.6.1 General
The Council is committed to business integrity, transparency and professionalism in all its activities. As part
of this commitment, the Council supports the highest standards of corporate governance and the on-going
development of best practice.
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15.4 Members’ Interest in Contracts

MINE HEALTH AND SAFETY COUNCIL

The Council is not aware of any matter or circumstance arising since the end of the financial year.
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15.3 Subsequent events

15. ACCOUNTING AUTHORITY’S
REPORT (CONTINUED)
15.6 Corporate Governance (continued)
15.6.2 Council Meetings
The Council was scheduled to meet at least four (4) times per annum.

15.6.3 Audit and Risk Committee
For the period under review, the Chairperson of the Audit and Risk Committee was Ms T Sihlaba, who is
an independent Audit and Risk Committee member. The committee met 8 times during the financial year to
review matters necessary to fulfill its role. Mr M Manning and Ms N Khumalo joined as independent members
from 1 July 2013.

15.6.4 Internal Audit
The MHSC has outsourced its internal audit function to Nexia SAB & T. This is in compliance with the Public
Finance Management Act.
ANNUAL REPORT 2014/2015
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16. REPORT OF THE
AUDITOR-GENERAL

TO PARLIAMENT ON THE MINE HEALTH AND SAFETY COUNCIL
Report on the financial statements
Introduction
1. I have audited the financial statements of The Mine Health and Safety Council (MHSC) set out on
pages 63 to109, which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 March 2015, the statement
of financial performance, statement of changes in net assets and cash flow statement and statement
of comparison of budget to actual amounts for the year then ended, as well as the notes, comprising
a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Accounting authority’s responsibility for the financial statements
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2. The board of directors, which constitutes the accounting authority is responsible for the preparation
and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with South African Standards of
Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (SA Standards of GRAP) and the requirements of the
Public Finance Management Act of South Africa, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999) (PFMA), and for such
internal control as the accounting authority determines is necessary to enable the preparation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor-General’s responsibility
3. My responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on my audit. I conducted
my audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that I
comply with ethical requirements, and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
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4. An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
5. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my
audit opinion.

6. In my opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
The Mine Health and Safety Council as at 31 March 2015 and their financial performance and cash
flows for the year then ended, in accordance with the SA Standards of GRAP and the requirements
of the PFMA.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
7. In accordance with the Public Audit Act of South Africa, 2004 (Act No. 25 of 2004) (PAA) and the
general notice issued in terms thereof, I have a responsibility to report findings on the reported
performance information against predetermined objectives for selected objectives presented in the
annual performance report, non-compliance with legislation and internal control. The objective of my
tests was to identify reportable findings as described under each subheading but not to gather evidence
to express assurance on these matters. Accordingly, I do not express an opinion or conclusion on
these matters.

Predetermined objectives
8. I performed procedures to obtain evidence about the usefulness and reliability of the reported
performance information for the following selected objectives presented in the annual performance
report of the public entity for the year ended 31 March 2015:

10. I evaluated the usefulness of the reported performance information to determine whether it was
presented in accordance with the National Treasury’s annual reporting principles and whether
the reported performance was consistent with the planned objectives. I further performed tests to
determine whether indicators and targets were well defined, verifiable, specific, measurable, time
bound and relevant, as required by the National Treasury’s Framework for managing programme
performance information (FMPPI).
11. I assessed the reliability of the reported performance information to determine whether it was valid,
accurate and complete.
12. I did not identify any material findings on the usefulness and reliability of the reported performance
information for the selected objectives.

Additional matter
13. Although I identified no material findings on the usefulness and reliability of the reported performance
information for the selected objectives, I draw attention to the following matter matters:
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9. I evaluated the reported performance information against the overall criteria of usefulness and
reliability.
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•

Objective 1: Delivery against MHSC mandate and MHSC Summit Action Plans on OHS to ensure
stakeholder on pages 33 to 34; and
Objective 2: Promote and communicate MHSC programmes to improve OHS awareness on
pages 35.
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•

Achievement of planned targets
14. Refer to the annual performance report on pages 23 to 39 for information on the achievement of the
planned targets for the year.

Compliance with legislation
15. I performed procedures to obtain evidence that the public entity had complied with applicable legislation
regarding financial matters, financial management and other related matters. I did not identify any
instances of material non-compliance with specific matters in key legislation, as set out in the general
notice issued in terms of the PAA.

Expenditure management
16. The accounting authority did not take effective steps to prevent irregular expenditure, as required by
section 51(1)(b)(ii) of the Public Finance Management Act.

Procurement and contract management
17. Persons in service of the public entity whose close family members, partners or associates had a
private or business interest in contracts awarded by the public entity failed to disclose such interest,
as required by Treasury Regulation 16A8.4

Internal control
ANNUAL REPORT 2014/2015

18. I considered internal control relevant to my audit of the financial statements, performance against
objectives report and compliance with legislation. The matters reported below are limited to the
significant internal control deficiencies that resulted in findings on non-compliance with legislation
included in this report.

Financial and performance management
19. The accounting authority did not take effective steps to prevent irregular expenditure.
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20. Non-compliance with laws and regulations could have been avoided had the accounting authority
implemented effective controls over monitoring of compliance with laws and regulations.
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Pretoria
31 July 2015

17. STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 MARCH 2015

Notes
Assets

Current Assets

2015

2014

R'000

R'000

77

183

Consumables

24.7
24.8

1 356

1 506

Receivables from
non-exchange transactions

24.9

1 108

1 835

24.10

216 274

195 108

Property, plant and equipment

24.4

6 185

7 269

Intangible assets

24.5

640

1 594

225 640

207 495

Receivables from
exchange transactions

Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets

218 815

198 632

8 863

Liabilities

Current Liabilities
Finance lease obligation

24.11

241

16

Payables from exchange transactions

24.13

8 102

11 423

Provisions

24.23

760

569

Total current liabilities

9 103

12 008

Non-Current Liabilities
Employee benefit obligation

24.6

2 276

1 626

Unspent conditional grants
transactions

24.12

6 591

6 811

24.11

355

0

Finance lease obligation

Total non-current liabilities
Total Liabilities

9 222

8 437

18 325

20 445

Assets

225 640

207 495

Liabilities

(18 325)

(20 445)

Net Assets

Accumulated surplus

207 315
207 315

187 050
187 050

63

Total Assets

6 825
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Total non- current assets
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Non-Current Assets

18. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
PERFORMANCE
AS AT 31 MARCH 2015

Notes
Revenue

2015

2014

R'000

R'000

Revenue

24.14

75 628

70 856

Interest income

24.20

11 564

9 040

24.20.1

642

193

Other income

Promotion of health and Safety
Total revenue

24.15

312

523

88 146

80 612

24.18

26 895

20 371

24.4 & 24.5

3 825

3 645

Finance costs

24.19

37

3

Operating

24.16

22 254

19 756

Research

24.17

14 870

15 079

20 265

21 758

Expenditure
Personnel
Depreciation and amortisation
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Total Expenditure
Surplus for the year

67 881

58 854

64
MINE HEALTH AND SAFETY COUNCIL

19. STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN
NET ASSETS
AS AT 31 MARCH 2015

Balance at 01 April 2013
Changes in net assets
Surplus for the year
Total changes

Balance at 01 April 2014

Accumulated
Surplus

Total net Assets

165 292

165 292

21 758

21 758

187 050

187 050

20 265

20 265

207 315

207 315

R'000

21 758

R'000

21 758

Changes in net assets
20 265
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Balance at 31 March 2015

20 265
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Total changes
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Surplus for the year

20. CASH FLOW STATEMENTS
AS AT 31 MARCH 2015

Notes
Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts

Receipts from mines

Transfer from Department of Mineral Resources

24.22

Other cash item

24.22

Interest income

2015

2014

R'000

R'000

70 876

62 977

11 564

9 040

5 197
1 210

5 035
987

88 847

78 039

(66 110)

(50 490)

24.21

22 737

27 549

24.4

(1 455)

(1 817)

24

0

0

(1 444)

(1 431)

(3 261)

(140)

(3)

21 166

24 285

195 108

170 823

216 274

195 108

Payments
Payment to suppliers and employees
Net cash flows from
operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
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Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from insurance claim
Purchase of intangible assets

24.5

Net cash flows from
investing activities

Cash flow from financing activities
Finance lease payments
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Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash
equivalents
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Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of
the year

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

24.10

21. STATEMENT OF COMPARISON
OF BUDGET TO ACTUAL AMOUNTS
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE AS AT 31 MARCH 2015

Approved
Budget

Actual

Variance

R'000

R'000

R’000

24.14

75 655

75 628

642

27

(1 508)

Other income

24.15

0

312

312

Interest income

24.20

6,175

83 980

11 564

88 146

5 389

31 016

26 895

(4 121)

3 834

3 825

(9)

57

37

(20)

Reference
Note
Revenue

Non exchange

Levies and transfer

Health and Safety funds

24.20

2 150

Exchange

Total revenue

4 166

Depreciation and amortization
Finance costs
Operating expenses

24.16

25 936

22 254

(3 682)

Research expenses

24.17

17 927

14 870

(3 057)

Total expenditure

78 770

67 881

(10 889)

Surplus/(Deficit)

5 210

20 265

15 055
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24.18
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Personnel
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Expenditure

22. STATEMENT OF COMPARISON
OF BUDGET TO ACTUAL AMOUNTS
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 MARCH 2015

Reference
Note
Assets

Current Assets
Inventories

24.7

Receivables from exchange

24.8

Receivables from non-exchange

Approved
Budget

Actual

Variance

R'000

R'000

R’000

183

77

(106)

24.8

2 535

1 108

(1 427)

24.10

162 155

216 274
218,815

54 119

53 387

Property plant and equipment

24.4

5 392

6 185

793

Intangible assets

24.5

1 829
7 221

640

6 825

(1 189)

172 649

225 640

52 991

Bank and Cash

Total current assets

555

165 428

1 356

801

Non-Current Assets

Total non-Current assets
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Total assets

(396)

Liabilities
Current Liabilities
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Finance lease

24.11

0

241

241

Accounts payable from exchange

24.13

6 575

8 102

1 527

Provisions

24.23

396

760

364

6 971

9 103

2 132

24.6

1 528

2 276

748

24.12

6 554

6 591

37

18

355

337

8 100

9 222

1 122

15 071

18 325

3 254

157 578

207 315

49 737

Total current liabilities
Non-Current Liabilities
Employee benefit obligation
Administrative funds
Finance
Total non-current liabilities
Total Liabilities
Net Assets

23. ACCOUNTING POLICIES
23.1 Presentation of Annual Financial Statements
The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Standards of Generally
Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP) including any interpretations, guidelines and directives issued by
the Accounting Standards Board.
These annual financial statements have been prepared on an accrual basis of accounting and are in accordance
with historical cost convention unless specified otherwise. They are presented in South African Rand. A
summary of the significant accounting policies, which have been consistently applied, are disclosed below.

23.1.1 Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are tangible non-current assets that are held for use in the supply of goods or
services, or for administrative purposes, and are expected to be used during more than one period. The cost
of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset when:

Where an item of property, plant and equipment is acquired in exchange for a non-monetary asset or
monetary assets, or a combination of monetary and non-monetary assets, the asset acquired is initially
measured at fair value (the cost). If the acquired item’s fair value was not determinable, it’s deemed cost is
the carrying amount of the asset(s) given up.
Recognition of costs in the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment ceases when the
item is in the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by
management.
Major spare parts and stand by equipment which are expected to be used for more than one period are
included in property, plant and equipment. In addition, spare parts and stand by equipment which can only
be used in connection with an item of property, plant and equipment are accounted for as property, plant and
equipment.
Major inspection costs which are a condition of continuing use of an item of property, plant and equipment and
which meet the recognition criteria above are included as a replacement in the cost of the item of property,
plant and equipment. Any remaining inspection costs from the previous inspection are derecognised.
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Property, plant and equipment are initially measured at cost. The cost of an item of property, plant and
equipment is the purchase price and other costs attributable to bring the asset to the location and condition
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. Trade discounts and
rebates are deducted in arriving at the cost. Where an asset is acquired at no cost, or for a nominal cost, its
cost is its fair value as at date of acquisition.
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•

It is probable that future economic benefits or service potential associated with the item will flow to the
MHSC; and
The cost of the item can be measured reliably.
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•

Property, plant and equipment is carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on the straight line basis over their expected useful lives to
their estimated residual value.
The useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment have been assessed as follows:
Item

Average useful life

Motor vehicles

5 years

Office furniture
Computer equipment

10 + years

5 – 10 years

Computer software

2 – 8 years

Leasehold improvements

remainder of lease period

Research equipment

Duration of the contract and estimated
useful life.

Information Technology Communication
Leased assets
Vehicle

5 – 10 years

The shorter of the lease period or the useful life of
the asset
5 years

The residual value, and the useful life and depreciation method of each asset are reviewed at the end of
each reporting date. If the expectations differ from previous estimates, the change is accounted for as a
change in accounting estimate.
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Reviewing the useful life of an asset on an annual basis does not require the MHSC to amend the previous
estimate unless expectations differ from the previous estimate. Each part of an item of property, plant and
equipment with a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of the item is depreciated separately. The
depreciation charge for each period is recognised in surplus or deficit unless it is included in the carrying
amount of another asset.
Items of property, plant and equipment are derecognised when the asset is disposed of or when there are
no further economic benefits or service potential expected from the use of the asset.
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The gain or loss arising from de-recognition of an item of property, plant and equipment is included in
surplus or deficit when the item is derecognised. The gain or loss arising from de-recognition of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any,
and the carrying amount of the item.

23.2 Intangible Assets
An asset is identified as an intangible asset when it:
•
•

is capable of being separated or divided from an MHSC and sold, transferred, licensed, rented or
exchanged, either individually or together with a related contract, assets or liability; or
arises from contractual rights or other legal rights, regardless whether those rights are transferable or
separate from the MHSC or from other rights and obligations.

An intangible asset is recognised when:
•
•

it is probable that the expected future economic benefits or service potential that are attributable to
the asset will flow to the MHSC; and
the cost or fair value of the asset can be measured reliably.

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost.
An intangible asset acquired at no or nominal cost, the cost shall be its fair value as at the date of acquisition.
Expenditure on research is recognised as an expense when it is incurred. An intangible asset arising from
development or development phase on internal project is recognised when:
It is technically feasible to complete the asset so that it will be available for use:
• There is an intention to complete and use it;
• There is an ability to use it;
• It will generate probable future economic benefits or service potential;
• There are technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the
assets and
• The expenditure attributable to the asset during its development can measured reliably.

Item

Licenses and software

Useful life

2 – 8 years

Intangible assets are derecognised:
• On disposal; or
• When no future economic benefits or service potential are expected from its use or disposal.
The gain or loss is the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount. It is
recognised in surplus or deficit when the asset is derecognised.
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The amortisation period, residual value, if any and the amortisation method for intangible assets are reviewed
at each reporting date. Reassessing the useful life of an intangible asset with a finite useful life after it was
classified as indefinite is an indicator that the asset may be impaired. As a result the asset is tested for
impairment and the remaining carrying amount is amortised over its useful life.
Amortisation is provided to write down the intangible assets, on a straight line basis, to their residual values
as follows:
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An intangible asset is regarded as having an indefinite useful life when, based on all relevant factors,
there is no foreseeable limit to the period over which the asset is expected to generate net cash inflows or
service potential. Amortisation is not provided for these intangible assets, but they are tested for impairment
annually and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired. For all other intangible assets
amortisation is provided on a straight line basis over their useful life. (Carried at cost less accumulated
impairment).
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Subsequent to initial measurement intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and
any accumulated impairment losses.

23.3 Financial Instruments
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or
a residual interest of another entity. The amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability is the amount
at which the financial asset or financial liability is measured at initial recognition minus principal repayments,
plus or minus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any difference between that
initial amount and the maturity amount, and minus any reduction (through the use of an allowance account)
for impairment or un-collectability.
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by
failing to discharge an obligation.
Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because
of changes in foreign exchange rates.
De-recognition is the removal of a previously recognised financial asset or financial liability from an MHSC’s
statement of financial position.

ANNUAL REPORT 2014/2015

A derivative is a financial instrument or other contract with all three of the following characteristics:
• Its value changes in response to the change in a specified interest rate, financial instrument price,
commodity price, foreign exchange rate, index of prices or rates, credit rating or credit index, or other
variable, provided in the case of a non-financial variable that the variable is not specific to a party to
the contract (sometimes called the ‘underlying’);
• It requires no initial net investment or an initial net investment that is smaller than would be required
for other types of contracts that would be expected to have a similar response to changes in market
factors; and
• It is settled at a future date.
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The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial
liability (or group of financial assets or financial liabilities) and of allocating the interest income or interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate,
a shorter period to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability. When calculating the
effective interest rate, MHSC shall estimate cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial
instrument (for example, prepayment, call and similar options) but shall not consider future credit losses.
The calculation includes all fees and points paid or received between parties to the contract that are an
integral part of the effective interest rate , transaction costs, and all other premiums or discounts. There
is a presumption that the cash flows and the expected life of a group of similar financial instruments can
be estimated reliably. However, in those rare cases when it is not possible to reliably estimate the cash
flows or the expected life of a financial instrument (or group of financial instruments), the MHSC shall use
the contractual cash flows over the full contractual term of the financial instrument (or group of financial
instruments).
Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable
willing parties in an arm’s length transaction.

A financial asset is:
•
•
•

Cash;
A residual interest of another entity; or
A contractual right to:
• Receive cash or another financial asset from another entity; or
• Exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions that are
potentially favourable to the MHSC.

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse
the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance with
the original or modified terms of a debt instrument.

A financial liability is any liability that is a contractual obligation to:

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because
of changes in market prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk: currency risk, interest rate risk and
other price risk.
Other price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk),
whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual financial instrument or its issuer, or
factors affecting all similar financial instruments traded in the market.
A financial asset is past due when a counterparty has failed to make a payment when contractually due. A
residual interest is any contract that manifests an interest in the assets of an MHSC after deducting all of its
liabilities.

A residual interest includes contributions from owners, which may be
shown as:
•

•

A formal designation of a transfer of resources (or a class of such transfers) by the parties to the
transaction as forming part of an MHSC’s net assets, either before the contribution occurs or at the
time of the contribution; or
A formal agreement, in relation to the contribution, establishing or increasing an existing financial
interest in the net assets of MHSC.
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Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates. Liquidity risk is the risk encountered by MHSC in the event
of difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or
another financial asset. Loan commitment is a firm commitment to provide credit under pre-specified terms
and conditions. Loans payable are financial liabilities, other than short-term payables on normal credit terms.
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Deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity; or
Exchange financial assets or financial liabilities under conditions that are potentially unfavourable to
the MHSC.
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•
•

Transaction costs are incremental costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, issue or disposal of a
financial asset or financial liability. An incremental cost is one that would not have been incurred if the MHSC
had not acquired, issued or disposed of the financial instrument.

Financial instruments at amortised cost are non-derivative financial assets or nonderivative financial liabilities that have fixed or determinable payments, excluding
those instruments that:
•
•

The MHSC designates at fair value at initial recognition; or
Are held for trading.

Financial instruments at cost are investments in residual interests that do not have a quoted market price in
an active market, and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured.

Financial instruments at fair value comprise financial assets or financial liabilities
that are:
•
•

Derivatives;
orCombined instruments that are designated at fair value; Instruments held for trading.
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A financial instrument is held for trading if:
• It is acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near-term
• On initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that are managed together
and for which there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short term profit-taking;
• Non-derivative financial assets or financial liabilities with fixed or determinable payments that are
designated at fair value at initial recognition; and
• Financial instruments that do not meet the definition of financial instruments at amortised cost or
financial instruments at cost.

Classification
The MHSC has the following types of financial assets (classes and category) as reflected on the face of the
statement of financial position:
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Financial Asset

R’000

Non exchange receivables measured at amortised cost

1 108

Other receivables measured at cost
Cash at bank measured at cost

1 356

216 274

Classification (continued)
A decline in interest rates exposes the MHSC to the risk of the declining cash flow streams of the cash at
banks. The MHSC’s exposure to currency risk is mitigated by having its investments in the money market
and also being invested with the three top banks and also by using the Treasury services of Central Energy
Fund (CEF).
Included in the accounts payable is the following financial liabilities:
Financial Liabilities

R’000

Administration funds measured at cost

6 591

Trade and other payables measured at amortized cost

7 443

The MHSC has the following types of residual interests as reflected on the face of the statement of financial
position:
Financial Liability

Accumulated surplus measured at cost

R’000

207 315

Initial Recognition

Subsequent measurement of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
The MHSC measures all financial assets and financial liabilities after initial recognition using the following:
• Financial instruments at amortised cost; and
• All financial assets measured at amortised cost, or cost, are subject to an impairment review.

Fair Value Measurement Considerations
The best evidence of fair value is quoted prices in an active market. If the market for a financial instrument
is not active, the MHSC establishes fair value by using a valuation technique. The objective of using a
valuation technique is to establish what the transaction price would have been on the measurement date in
an arm’s length exchange motivated by normal operating considerations. Valuation techniques include using
recent arm’s length market transactions between knowledgeable, willing parties, if available, reference to
the current fair value of another instrument that is substantially the same, discounted cash flow analysis and
option pricing models.
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The MHSC measures a financial asset and financial liability initially at its fair value plus transaction costs that
are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset or financial liability.
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Initial measurement of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

ANNUAL REPORT 2014/2015

The MHSC recognises a financial asset or a financial liability in its statement of financial position when the
MHSC becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. The MHSC recognises financial
assets using trade date accounting.

If there is a valuation technique commonly used by market participants to price the instrument and that
technique has been demonstrated to provide reliable estimates of prices obtained in actual market
transactions, the MHSC uses that technique.
The chosen valuation technique makes maximum use of market inputs and relies as little as possible on
MHSC-specific inputs. It incorporates all factors that market participants would consider in setting a price and
is consistent with accepted economic methodologies for pricing financial instruments. Periodically, an MHSC
calibrates the valuation technique and tests it for validity using prices from any observable current market
transactions in the same instrument (i.e. without modification or repackaging) or based on any available
observable market data.
The fair value of a financial liability with a demand feature (e.g. a demand deposit) is not less than the
amount payable on demand, discounted from the first date that the amount could be required to be paid.

Reclassification
The MHSC does not reclassify a financial instrument while it is issued or held unless it is:
• Combined instrument that is required to be measured at fair value; or
• An investment in a residual interest that meets the requirements for reclassification.
Where the MHSC cannot reliably measure the fair value of an embedded derivative that has been separated from
a host contract that is a financial instrument at a subsequent reporting date, it measures the combined instrument
at fair value. This requires a reclassification of the instrument from amortised cost or cost to fair value.
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If fair value can no longer be measured reliably for an investment in a residual interest measured at fair
value, the MHSC reclassifies the investment from fair value to cost. The carrying amount at the date that fair
value is no longer available becomes the cost. If a reliable measure becomes available for an investment in
a residual interest for which a measure was previously not available, and the instrument would have been
required to be measured at fair value, the MHSC reclassifies the instrument from cost to fair value.

Gains and Losses
For financial assets and financial liabilities measured at amortised cost or cost, a gain or loss is recognised
in surplus or deficit when the financial asset or financial liability is derecognised or impaired, or through the
amortisation process.
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Impairment and Un-collectability of Financial Assets
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The MHSC assess at the end of each reporting period whether there is any objective evidence that a financial
asset or group of financial assets is impaired.

Financial assets measured at amortised cost:
•

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets measured at amortised cost
has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have
not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The carrying
amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account. The amount of the loss is
recognised in surplus or deficit.

•

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can
be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is reversed by adjusting an allowance account. The reversal does not
result in a carrying amount of the financial asset that exceeds what the amortised cost would have
been had the impairment not been recognised at the date the impairment is reversed. The amount of
the reversal is recognised in surplus or deficit.

Financial assets measured at cost:
•

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred on an investment in a residual
interest that is not measured at fair value because its fair value cannot be measured reliably, the
amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the carrying amount of the
financial asset and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market
rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment losses are not reversed.

De-recognition of Financial assets
The MHSC derecognises financial assets using trade date accounting.

In this case, the MHSC:
• Derecognise the asset; and recognise separately any rights and obligations created or retained in the
transfer.
The carrying amounts of the transferred asset are allocated between the rights or obligations retained and
those transferred on the basis of their relative fair values at the transfer date.
Newly created rights and obligations are measured at their fair values at that date. Any difference between
the consideration received and the amounts recognised and derecognised is recognised in surplus or deficit
in the period of the transfer.
If the MHSC transfers a financial asset in a transfer that qualifies for de-recognition in its entirety and retains
the right to service the financial asset for a fee, it recognise either a servicing asset or a servicing liability for
that servicing contract. If the fee to be received is not expected to compensate the MHSC adequately for
performing the servicing, a servicing liability for the servicing obligation is recognised at its fair value. If the
fee to be received is expected to be more than adequate compensation for the servicing, a servicing asset
is recognised for the servicing right at an amount determined on the basis of an allocation of the carrying
amount of the larger financial asset.
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•

The contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, are settled or waived;
The MHSC transfers to another party substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the
financial asset; or
The MHSC, despite having retained some significant risks and rewards of ownership of the financial
asset, has transferred control of the asset to another party and the other party has the practical ability
to sell the asset in its entirety to an unrelated third party, and is able to exercise that ability unilaterally
and without needing to impose additional restrictions on the transfer.
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•
•
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The MHSC derecognises a financial asset only when:

If, as a result of a transfer, a financial asset is derecognised in its entirety but the transfer results in the
MHSC obtaining a new financial asset or assuming a new financial liability, or a servicing liability, the MHSC
recognise the new financial asset, financial liability or servicing liability at fair value.
On de-recognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the carrying amount and the sum
of the consideration received is recognised in surplus or deficit.
If the transferred asset is part of a larger financial asset and the part transferred qualifies for de-recognition
in its entirety, the previous carrying amount of the larger financial asset is allocated between the part that
continues to be recognised and the part that is derecognised, based on the relative fair values of those parts,
on the date of the transfer. For this purpose, a retained servicing asset is treated as a part that continues
to be recognised. The difference between the carrying amount allocated to the part derecognised and the
sum of the consideration received for the part derecognised is recognised in surplus or deficit. If a transfer
does not result in de-recognition because the MHSC has retained substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the transferred asset, the MHSC continue to recognise the transferred asset in its entirety and
recognise a financial liability for the consideration received. In subsequent periods, the MHSC recognises
any revenue on the transferred asset and any expense incurred on the financial liability. Neither the asset,
and the associated liability nor the revenue, and the associated expenses are offset.
The MHSC removes financial liability (or a part of a financial liability) from its statement of financial position
when it is extinguished — i.e. when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled, expired
or waived.
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An exchange between an existing borrower and lender of debt instruments with substantially different terms
is accounted for as having extinguished the original financial liability and a new financial liability is recognised.
Similarly, a substantial modification of the terms of an existing financial liability or a part of it is accounted for
as having extinguished the original financial liability and having recognised a new financial liability.
The difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability (or part of a financial liability) extinguished
or transferred to another party and the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or
liabilities assumed, is recognised in surplus or deficit. Any liabilities that are waived, forgiven or assumed by
another MHSC by way of a non-exchange transaction are accounted for in accordance with the Standard of
GRAP on Revenue from Non-exchange Transactions (Taxes and Transfers).

Presentation
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Interest relating to a financial instrument or a component that is a financial liability is recognised as revenue
or expense in surplus or deficit.
Losses and gains relating to a financial instrument or a component that is a financial liability is recognised as
revenue or expense in surplus or deficit.
A financial asset and a financial liability are only offset and the net amount presented in the statement of
financial position when the MHSC currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts
and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
In accounting for a transfer of a financial asset that does not qualify for de-recognition, the MHSC does not
offset the transferred asset and the associated liability.

23.4 Leases
A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership. A lease is classified as an operating lease if it does not transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership.
When a lease includes both land and buildings elements, the MHSC assesses the classification of each
element separately.

Finance Leases – Lessee
Finance leases are recognised as assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position at amounts equal
to the fair value of the leased property or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments. The
corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the statement of financial position as a finance lease obligation.
The discount rate used in calculating the present value of the minimum lease payments is the interest rate
implicit in the lease.
Minimum lease payments are apportioned between the finance charge and reduction of the outstanding
liability. The finance charge is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to produce a constant
periodic rate of on the remaining balance of the liability.
Any contingent rents are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

Consumables are initially measured at cost except where consumables are acquired at no cost, or for nominal
consideration, then their costs are their fair value as at the date of acquisition.
Subsequently consumables are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Consumables are measured at the lower of cost and current replacement cost where they are held for
distribution at no charge or for a nominal charge.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of operations less the estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale, exchange or distribution.
Current replacement cost is the cost the MHSC incurs to acquire the asset on the reporting date.
The cost of consumables comprises of all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs incurred in
bringing the consumables to their present location and condition.
The cost of consumables of items that are not ordinarily interchangeable and goods or services produced
and segregated for specific projects is assigned using specific identification of the individual costs.
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23.5 Consumables
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Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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Operating Leases – Lessee

23.5 Consumables (continued)
The cost of consumables is assigned using the weighted average cost formula. The same cost formula is
used for all consumables having a similar nature and use to the MHSC.

23.6 Employee Benefits
Employee benefits are all forms of consideration given by MHSC in exchange for service rendered by
employees.
A qualifying insurance policy is an insurance policy issued by an insurer that is not a related party (as defined
in the Standard of GRAP on Related Party Disclosures) of the reporting entity, if the proceeds of the policy
can be used only to pay or fund employee benefits under a defined benefit plan and are not available to the
reporting entity’s own creditors (even in liquidation) and cannot be paid to the reporting entity, unless either:
•
•

the proceeds represent surplus assets that are not needed for the policy to meet all the related
employee benefit obligations; or
the proceeds are returned to the reporting MHSC to reimburse it for employee benefits already paid.

Termination Benefits are Employee Benefits Payable as a Result of either:
•
•

MHSC’s decision to terminate an employee’s employment before the normal retirement date; or
an employee’s decision to accept voluntary redundancy in exchange for those benefits.
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Other long-term employee benefits are employee benefits (other than post-employment benefits and
termination benefits) that are not due to be settled within twelve months after the end of the period in which
the employees render the related service.
Vested employee benefits are employee benefits that are not conditional on future employment.
Composite social security programmes are established by legislation and operate as multi-employer plans
to provide post-employment benefits as well as to provide benefits that are not consideration in exchange
for service rendered by employees.
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A constructive obligation is an obligation that derives from MHSC’s actions where by an established pattern
of past practice, published policies or a sufficiently specific current statement, the MHSC has indicated
to other parties that it will accept certain responsibilities and as a result, the MHSC has created a valid
expectation on the part of those other parties that it will discharge those responsibilities.

Short-Term Employee Benefits
Short-term employee benefits are employee benefits (other than termination benefits) that are due to be
settled within twelve months after the end of the period in which the employees render the related service.

Short-Term Employee Benefits include items such as:
•
•

•
•

wages, salaries and social security contributions;
short-term compensated absences (such as paid annual leave and paid sick leave) where the
compensation for the absences is due to be settled within twelve months after the end of the reporting
period in which the employees render the related employee service;
bonus, incentive and performance related payments payable within twelve months after the end of the
reporting period in which the employees render the related service; and
non-monetary benefits (for example, medical care, and free or subsidised goods or services such as
housing, cars and cell phones) for current employees.

When an employee has rendered service to the MHSC during a reporting period, the MHSC recognise the
undiscounted amount of short-term employee benefits expected to be paid in exchange for that service:
• as a liability (accrued expense), after deducting any amount already paid. If the amount already paid
exceeds the undiscounted amount of the benefits, the MHSC recognise that excess as an asset
(prepaid expense) to the extent that the prepayment will lead to, for example, a reduction in future
payments or a cash refund; and
• as an expense, unless another Standard requires or permits the inclusion of the benefits in the cost
of an asset.

Post-employment benefits are employee benefits (other than termination benefits) which are payable after
the completion of employment.
Post-employment benefit plans are formal or informal arrangements under which an MHSC provides postemployment benefits for one or more employees.
The MHSC uses the cost to company remuneration policy, under this policy, the MHSC expects its employees
to make their own provisions for post-retirement benefits. Only four employees fall under the old arrangement
of providing a post-employment medical contributions and this is disclosed under note 24.6 to the financial
statements.

Actuarial Assumptions

Actuarial assumptions are unbiased and mutually compatible.
Financial assumptions are based on market expectations, at the reporting date, for the period over which the
obligations are to be settled.
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Post-Employment Benefits
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The MHSC recognise the expected cost of bonus, incentive and performance related payments when the
MHSC has a present legal or constructive obligation to make such payments as a result of past events and a
reliable estimate of the obligation can be made. A present obligation exists when the MHSC has no realistic
alternative but to make the payments.
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The expected cost of compensated absences is recognised as an expense as the employees render services
that increase their entitlement or, in the case of non-accumulating absences, when the absence occurs. The
MHSC measure the expected cost of accumulating compensated absences as the additional amount that
the MHSC expects to pay as a result of the unused entitlement that has accumulated at the reporting date.

The rate used to discount post-employment benefit obligations (both funded and unfunded) reflect the time
value of money. The currency and term of the financial instrument selected to reflect the time value of money
is consistent with the currency and estimated term of the post-employment benefit obligations.

Post-Employment Medical Benefit Obligations are measured on a basis that reflects:
•
•
•

estimated future salary increases;
the benefits set out in the terms of the plan (or resulting from any constructive obligation that goes
beyond those terms) at the reporting date; and
estimated future changes in the level of any state benefits that affect the benefits payable under a
defined benefit plan, if, and only if, either:
• those changes were enacted before the reporting date; or
• past history, or other reliable evidence, indicates that those state benefits will change in some
predictable manner, for example, in line with future changes in general price levels or general
salary levels.

Assumptions about medical costs take account of estimated future changes in the cost of medical services,
resulting from both inflation and specific changes in medical costs.

23.7 Provisions and Contingencies
Provisions are Recognised when:
•
•
•

the MHSC has a present obligation as a result of a past event;
it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits or service potential will be
required to settle the obligation; and
a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.
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The amount of a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the
present obligation at the reporting date.
Where the effect of time value of money is material, the amount of a provision is the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation.
The discount rate is a rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the liability.
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Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a provision is expected to be reimbursed by another
party, the reimbursement is recognised when, and only when, it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be
received if the MHSC settles the obligation. The reimbursement is treated as a separate asset. The amount
recognised for the reimbursement does not exceed the amount of the provision.
Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. Provisions
are reversed if it is no longer probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits or service
potential will be required, to settle the obligation.
Where discounting is used, the carrying amount of a provision increases in each period to reflect the passage
of time. This increase is recognised as an interest expense.
A provision is used only for expenditures for which the provision was originally recognised.

Provisions are not recognised for future operating deficits.
If MHSC has a contract that is onerous, the present obligation (net of recoveries) under the contract is
recognised and measured as a provision. Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised.

23.8 Revenue from Exchange Transactions
Revenue is the gross inflow of economic benefits or service potential during the reporting period when those
inflows result in an increase in net assets, other than increases relating to contributions from owners.
An exchange transaction is one in which the MHSC receives assets or services, or has liabilities extinguished,
and directly gives approximately equal value (primarily in the form of goods, services or use of assets) to the
other party in exchange.
Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable,
willing parties in an arm’s length transaction.

Measurement
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, net of trade discounts and
volume rebates.

Royalties are recognised as they are earned in accordance with the substance of the relevant agreements.

23.9 Revenue from Non-Exchange Transactions
Revenue comprises gross inflows of economic benefits or service potential received and receivable by
MHSC, which represents an increase in net assets, other than increases relating to contributions from
owners. Conditions on transferred assets are stipulations that specify that the future economic benefits or
service potential embodied in the asset is required to be consumed by the recipient as specified or future
economic benefits or service potential must be returned to the transferor.
Control of an asset arising when the MHSC can use or otherwise benefit from the asset in pursuit of its
objectives and can exclude or otherwise regulate the access of others to that benefit.
Fines are economic benefits or service potential received or receivable by the MHSC, as determined by the
Mine Health and Safety Act, as a consequence of the breach of laws or regulations.
Non-exchange transactions are transactions that are not exchange transactions. In a non-exchange
transaction, MHSC either receives value from another MHSC without directly giving approximately equal
value in exchange, or gives value to another MHSC without directly receiving approximately equal value in
exchange.
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Interest is recognised, in the statement of financial performance using the effective interest rate method.
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Revenue arising from the use by others of MHSC assets yielding interest and royalties is recognised when:
• It is probable that the economic benefits or service potential associated with the transaction will flow
to the MHSC, and
• The amount of the revenue can be measured reliably.

ANNUAL REPORT 2014/2015

Interest, Royalties and Dividends

Recognition
An inflow of resources from a non-exchange transaction recognised as an asset is recognised as revenue,
except to the extent that a liability is also recognised in respect of the same inflow.
As the MHSC satisfies a present obligation recognised as a liability in respect of an inflow of resources
from a non-exchange transaction recognised as an asset, it reduces the carrying amount of the liability
recognised and recognises an amount of revenue equal to that reduction.

Measurement
Revenue from a non-exchange transaction is measured at the amount of the increase in net assets
recognised by the MHSC.
When, as a result of a non-exchange transaction, the MHSC recognises an asset, it also recognises revenue
equivalent to the amount of the asset measured at its fair value as at the date of acquisition, unless it is also
required to recognise a liability. Where a liability is required to be recognised it will be measured as the best
estimate of the amount required to settle the obligation at the reporting date, and the amount of the increase
in net assets, if any, recognised as revenue. When a liability is subsequently reduced, because a condition
is satisfied, the amount of the reduction in the liability is recognised as revenue.

23.10 Unauthorised Expenditure
Unauthorised Expenditure means:
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•

expenditure not in accordance with the purpose of the approved budget or the delegation of authority.

All expenditure relating to unauthorised expenditure is recognised as an expense in the statement of financial
performance in the year that the expenditure was incurred. The expenditure is classified in accordance
with the nature of the expense, and where recovered, it is subsequently accounted for as revenue in the
statement of financial performance.

23.11 Fruitless and Wasteful Expenditure
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Fruitless expenditure means expenditure which was made in vain and would have been avoided had
reasonable care been exercised.

MINE HEALTH AND SAFETY COUNCIL

All expenditure relating to fruitless and wasteful expenditure is recognised as an expense in the statement
of financial performance in the year that the expenditure was incurred. The expenditure is classified in
accordance with the nature of the expense, and where recovered, it is subsequently accounted for as
revenue in the statement of financial performance.

23.12 Irregular Expenditure
•

•
•

Irregular expenditure as defined in section 1 of the PFMA is expenditure other than unauthorised
expenditure, incurred in contravention of or that is not in accordance with a requirement of any
applicable legislation, including this Act; or
the State Tender Board Act, 1968 (Act No. 86 of 1968), or any regulations made in terms of the Act; or
any provincial legislation providing for procurement procedures in that provincial government.

National Treasury practice note no. 4 of 2008/2009 which was issued in terms of sections 76(1) to 76(4) of
the PFMA requires the following (effective from 1 April 2008):
Irregular expenditure that was incurred and identified during the current financial and which was condoned
before year end and/or before finalisation of the financial statements is also recorded appropriately in the
irregular expenditure register. In such an instance, no further action is also required with the exception of
updating the note to the financial statements.
Irregular expenditure is recorded in the notes to the financial statements when confirmed. The amount
recorded is equal to the value of irregularity unless it is impracticable to determine, in which case reasons
therefore are provided in the note. Irregular expenditure is removed from the note when it either condoned
the relevant authority or transferred to receivables for recovery.

The irregular expenditure register must also be updated accordingly. If the irregular expenditure has not been
condoned and no person is liable in law, the expenditure related thereto must remain against the relevant
expenditure item, be disclosed as such in the note to the financial statements and updated accordingly in the
irregular expenditure register.
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Irregular expenditure that was incurred and identified during the current financial year and which was not
condoned by the National Treasury or the relevant authority must be recorded appropriately in the irregular
expenditure register. If liability for the irregular expenditure can be attributed to a person, a debt account must
be created if such a person is liable in law. Immediate steps must thereafter be taken to recover the amount
from the person concerned. If recovery is not possible, the accounting officer or accounting authority may
write off the amount as debt impairment and disclose such in the relevant note to the financial statements.
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Where irregular expenditure was incurred in the previous financial year and is only condoned in the following
financial year, the register and the disclosure note to the financial statements must be updated with the
amount condoned.
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Irregular expenditure that was incurred and identified during the current financial year and for which condoning
is being awaited at year end must be recorded in the irregular expenditure register. No further action is
required with the exception of updating the note to the financial statements.

23.13 Administrative Fines
Revenue received from administrative fines is recognised as revenue to the extent that the MHSC has
complied with any of the criteria, conditions or obligations embodied in the Mine Health and Safety Act. To
the extent that the criteria, conditions or obligations have not been met a liability is recognised.

23.14 Budget Information
General purpose financial reporting by MHSC shall provide information on whether resources were obtained
and used in accordance with the legally adopted budget.
The annual financial statements and the budget are on the same basis of accounting.
The Statement of comparative and actual information have been included in the annual financial statements
as the recommended disclosure when the annual financial statements and the budget are on the same basis
of accounting as determined by National Treasury.

23.15 Related Parties
The MHSC operates in an economic sector currently dominated by entities directly or indirectly owned by
the South African Government. As a consequence of the constitutional independence of the three spheres
of government in South Africa, only entities within the national sphere of government are considered to be
related parties.
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Management are those persons responsible for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the MHSC,
including those charged with the governance of the MHSC in accordance with legislation, in instances where
they are required to perform such functions.
Close members of the family of a person are considered to be those family members who may be expected
to influence, or be influenced by, that management in their dealings with the MHSC.
All transactions with related parties should be disclosed.

23.16 Events after the reporting period
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Events after the reporting date are those adjusting events that may be favourable and unfavourable that
occur between the end of the reporting period and the date when the financial statements are authorised for
issue.

23.17 Offsetting of financial transactions
Except for immaterial transactions like gains and losses on de-recognition of assets, the MHSC present
separately each material class of similar items in the statements of financial performance and financial
position.

23.18 Significant judgments and sources of estimation uncertainty
In preparing the annual financial statements, management is required to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the amounts represented in the annual financial statements and related disclosures. Use of available
information and the application of judgment are inherent in the formation of estimates. Actual results in the
future could differ from these estimates which may be material to the annual financial statements. Significant
judgments include:
• Provision for doubtful debts;
• Post-retirement medical benefit; and
• Provision for Performance Bonus.

23.19 Trade and other receivables/loans receivable
The MHSC assesses its trade receivables and loans and receivables for impairment at each reporting
date. In determining whether an impairment loss should be recorded in surplus or deficit, the MHSC makes
judgments as to whether there is observable data indicating a measurable decrease in the estimated future
cash flows from financial assets.

Allowance for Impairment
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The post value of the post-retirement medical aid obligation depends on a number of factors that are
determined on an actuarial basis using a number of assumptions. The assumptions used in determining the
net cost (income) includes the discount rate. Any changes in these assumptions will impact on the carrying
amount of post retirement obligations. The MHSC’s actuarial service provider determines the appropriate
discount rate at the year end. This is the interest that should be used to determine the present value of
estimated future cash out flows expected to settle the medical aid obligations in determining the appropriate
discount rate the MHSC actuarial service provider considers the interest rates of high quality government
bonds that are denominated in the currency in which benefits will paid.
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23.20 Post-retirement Benefits
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On receivables and account payables an impairment loss or gain is recognised in surplus and deficit when
there is objective evidence that it is impaired. The impairment is measured as the difference between the
receivable’s and payables carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted
at the effective rate, computed at initial recognition.

24. NOTES TO THE ANNUAL
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS AT 31 MARCH 2015

New Standards and Interpretations
24.1 Standards and Interpretations effective and adopted in the current year

In the current year, the MHSC has adopted the following standards and interpretations that are effective for
the current financial year and that are relevant to its operations:
Standard/ Interpretation:

Effective date:

Expected impact:

GRAP 2: (Revised version):
Cash flow statements

01 April 2014

Impacting on MHSC

GRAP 3: (Revised version):
Accounting Policies, Change in
Accounting Estimates and Errors

01 April 2014

Impacting on MHSC

GRAP 4: (Revised version):
The effects of changes in
foreign exchange

01 April 2014

No impact

GRAP 5: (Revised version):
Borrowing costs

01 April 2014

No impact

GRAP 6: (Revised version):
Consolidated and separate
financial statements

01 April 2014

No impact

GRAP 7: (Revised version):
Investments in Associates

01 April 2014

No impact

GRAP 8: (Revised version):
Interest in joint ventures

01 April 2014

No impact

GRAP 9: (Revised version):
Revenue from Exchange Transactions

01 April 2014

Impacting on MHSC

GRAP 10: (Revised version):
Financial reporting in hyperinflation

01 April 2014

No impact

GRAP 11: (Revised version):
Construction contracts

01 April 2014

No impact

GRAP 12: (Revised version):
Inventories

01 April 2014

Minimal impact

GRAP 13: (Revised version):
Leases

01 April 2014

Impacting on MHSC

GRAP 14: (Revised version):
Events after reporting period

01 April 2014

Impacting on MHSC

GRAP 1: (Revised version):
Presentation of Financial Statements

01 April 2014

Impacting on MHSC
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Standard/ Interpretation:

Effective date:

Expected impact:

GRAP 17: (Revised version):
Property, Plant and Equipment

01 April 2014

Impacting on MHSC

GRAP 19: (Revised version):
Provision, contingent liabilities and contingent
assets

01 April 2014

Impacting on MHSC

GRAP 21: (Revised version):
Impairment of non-cash
generating assets

01 April 2014

No impact

GRAP 23: (Revised version):
Revenue from non-exchange
transactions

01 April 2014

Impacting on MHSC

GRAP 24: (Revised version):
Presentation of budget information in financial
statements

01 April 2014

Impacting on MHSC

GRAP 25: (Revised version)
Employee Benefits

1 April 2014

Impacting on MHSC

GRAP 26: (Revised version)
Impairment of cash generating assets

1 April 2014

Minimal impact

GRAP 27: (Revised version):
Agriculture (Replaces GRAP 101)

01 April 2014

No impact

GRAP 31: (Revised version): I
ntangible Assets (Replaces GRAP 102)

01 April 2014

Impacting on MHSC

GRAP 100: (Revised version)
Discontinued operations

1 April 2014

Minimal impact

GRAP 103: (Revised version) Heritage assets

1 April 2014

No impact

24.2 Standards and Interpretations early adopted
Standard/ Interpretation:

GRAP 104: Financial Instruments

Effective date:
1 April 2015

Expected impact:

Impacting on MHSC

24.3 Standards and interpretations issued, but not yet effective

The MHSC has not applied the following standards and interpretations, which have been published and are
mandatory for the MHSC’s accounting periods beginning on or after 31 March 2015 or later periods:
Standard/ Interpretation:

Effective date:

Expected impact:

GRAP 32: Service Concession arrangement: Grantor

No effective date

Minimal impact

No effective date

Impacting on MHSC

GRAP 20: Related party disclosures

GRAP 108: Statutory Receivables

No effective date

Impacting on MHSC
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No impact
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01 April 2014
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GRAP 16: (Revised version): Investment Property

24.4 Property, Plant and Equipment
31 March 2015
Cost/
Evaluation
R’000

Accumulated
Depreciation
Carrying
and
Value
Accumulated
Impairment
R’000

R’000

95

(76)

591

Computer
equipment

Research
equipment

31 March 2014

Accumulated
Depreciation
Cost/
and
Evaluation
Accumulated
Impairment

Carrying
Value

R’000

R’000

R’000

19

95

(57)

38

(328)

263

1 041

(520)

521

2 881

(1 201)

1 680

2 014

(807)

1 207

764

(308)

456

764

(120)

644

8 846

(7 157)

1 689

9 139

(5 383)

3 756

ICT

992

(367)

625

639

(372)

267

Leased assets

693

(109)

584

45

(30)

15

16 167

(9 982)

6 185

14 973

(7 704)

7 269

Office furniture

1 305

Motor vehicles
Office equipment

Leasehold
improvements

Total

(436)

869

1 236

(415)

821
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Reconciliation of Property, Plant and Equipment – 2015
31 March 2015

Opening
Additions Disposals Transfers
balance

31 March 2014
Reclassification Depreciation

Total

90
MINE HEALTH AND SAFETY COUNCIL

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

38

0

0

0

0

(19)

19

521

17

(130)

0

0

(144)

264

Computer
equipment

1 207

905

(25)

0

0

(407)

1 680

644

0

0

0

0

(188)

456

Research
equipment

3 756

0

0

0

(122)

(1 945)

1 689

267

352

0

0

0

5

624

15

684

0

0

0

(115)

584

7 269

2 138

(192)

0

(122)

(2 908)

6 185

Office
furniture
Motor
vehicles

Office
equipment

Leasehold
improvements

ICT

Leased
assets

Total

821

180

(37)

0

0

(95)

869

The scrapping is due to technological obsolescence and the asset replacement decisions, the MHSC received
an amount of R24 000.00 in relation to insurance claims and this resulted in the net loss of R168 000.
There are no restrictions on the title by the MHSC on the reported plant property and equipment, there is also
no property plant and equipment that is pledged as security for liabilities.

Reconciliation of Property, Plant and Equipment – 2014

416

Total

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

57

0

0

(19)

38

482

188

0

(149)

521

Computer
equipment

1 342

246

(12)

(369)

1 207

428

708

(336)

(156)

644

Research
equipment

5 929

0

0

(2 173)

3 756

120

259

(6)

(106)

267

36

0

0

(21)

15

8 859

1 817

(354)

(3 053)

7 269

Office furniture
Motor vehicles
Office equipment

Leasehold
improvements

ICT

Leased assets
Total

0

(60)

821

Assets subject to finance lease (net carrying amount)
2015

Lease improvements

2014

R’000

R’000

584

15

1 040

659

456

Leased assets
Total

644

24.5 Intangible Assets
2015

Cost/
Evaluation

Intangible assets

R’000

2 514

2014

Accumulated
Accumulated
Depreciation
Depreciation
Carrying
Cost/
and
and
Value Evaluation
Accumulated
Accumulated
Impairment
Impairment
R’000

(1 874)

R’000
640

R’000

2 551

R’000
(957)

Carrying
Value
R’000

1 594

ANNUAL REPORT 2014/2015

465

Disposals Depreciation
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Additions
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Opening
balance

Reconciliation of intangible assets – 2015

Intangible assets

Opening
balance

Additions

1 594

0

R’000

R’000

Disposals Reclassification Amortisation
R’000

0

R’000

R’000

(37)

(917)

Total
R’000
640

Amortisation of intangible assets is included in the depreciation and amortisation line of the statement of
financial performance.

Reconciliation of intangible assets – 2015
Opening balance

Additions

Amortisation

743

1 444

(593)

Intangible assets

R’000

R’000

R’000

Total

R’000

1 594

Change in estimate
During the financial year the MHSC conducted a useful life review of property plant and equipment. This review
resulted in the extensions of useful lives of assets under the following classes of property plant and equipment:

Class

Depreciation
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Effect to
Accumulated statement of
depreciation financial
position

92
MINE HEALTH AND SAFETY COUNCIL

Computer

(15 139.42)

ICT

(93 815.12)

93 815.12

Office
equipment

(9 488.99)

9 488.99

Office furniture

(7 927.14)

7 927.14

Research
assets

(8 691.31)

8 691.31

(2 265.78)

2 265.78

Intangibles

(51 250.11)

51 250.11

Leased assets

Total

(188 577.87)

15 139.42

Increase to
carrying amount
Increase to
carrying amount
Increase to
carrying amount
Increase to
carrying amount
Increase to
carrying amount
Increase to
carrying amount
Increase to
carrying amount

(188 577.87) Increase to
carrying amount

Effect to
statement of
financial
performance
Increase to
surplus
Increase to
surplus
Increase to
surplus
Increase to
surplus
Increase to
surplus
Increase to
surplus
Increase to
surplus
Increase to
surplus

The effect of the change in the estimated useful lives of these assets has been to reduce the current
depreciation expense by R188 577.87 and the revised carrying amounts that will be depreciated over the
future economic benefit to be derived from these assets.

24.6 Employee Benefit Obligations
The MHSC has a commitment to cover medical aid costs for all employees appointed prior to
1 July 2003 in the event of them retiring while in the service of the MHSC. This scheme is valued by a
qualified actuary on an annual basis.
The amounts recognised in the statement of financial position arising from the obligation in respect of the
post- retirement medical plan is as follows:
2015

In service members
Continuation members
Total accrued service liability

2014

R’000

R’000

717

709

2 276

1 626

1 559

917

The changes in the accrued service liability since the previous valuation present value of fund obligations is
as follows:
2015

R’000

Carrying Value
Accrued Liability – 31 March 2014

1 626
(50)

Interest Cost

142

Net actuarial losses not recognised

493

Accrued service liability – 31 March 2015

2 276

Sensitivity Analysis
Changes in key financial assumptions of valuation interest rate and the medical rate is follows:
R’000

% Change

Accrued liability as already stated

2 276

Valuation rate increase by 1%

1 950

-14.3%

Valuation rate decrease by 1%

2 635

15.8%

Medical aid increase by 1%

2 682

17.8%

Medical aid decrease by 1%

1 950

-14.3%

Retirement at age 61

2 412

6.0%

93

Estimated Benefit paid
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Current service cost

Projected benefit obligation at 31 March 2016
R’000

Accrued liability at 31 March 2015

2 276

Service cost

109

Interest cost

200

Measurement loss

149

Benefits paid

(56)

Accrued liability at 31 March 2016

2 678

Net expense recognised in the statement of financial performance
2015

2014

R’000

R’000

Interest cost

142

123

Actuarial (gains) losses

493

(73)

700

144

2015

2014

Current service cost

65

94

Assumptions used at the reporting date
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R’000

R’000

Valuation Interest Rate

8.90%

8.60%

Medical Aid Contribution Increase Rate

8.60%

7.70%

94

Demographic assumptions are the pre-retirement mortality and the continuing member mortality
as checked against members dates of births, dates of employment, marital status ages within
reasonable care and contributions paid according to Discovery medical aid rate.
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For members in service it was assumed that the wife is 4 years younger than the husband and
normal retirement was made at 60 years. Members will not change their medical aid scheme and
that 100% of members will continue membership of the medical scheme and therefore receive
the subsidy.
Financial assumptions are the valuation interest and the rate of medical aid contribution increases
in as far as the relationship between the two.

Summary of Membership Data
Males

Females

Total 2015

Total 2014

In service

1

2

3

3

continuing

1

0

1

1

2

2

4

4

In Service Member Data
Average Age

In Service

Past Service

Total 2015

Total 2014

15 years 3 months

14 years 3 months

R 4 547

R 4 269

51

Average Employer
subsidy per month

48

24.7 Consumables
2015

R’000

R’000

201

559

(307)

(473)

77

183

Usage
Carried at cost

24.8 Receivables – Exchange
2015
Deposits

R’000
521

2014

R’000
521

Sundry debtors

125

556

Royalties

235

202

Prepaid expense

475

227

1 356

1 506

Credit quality of trade and other receivables
The credit rating of receivables from OHS levies is made up of balances that are past due date and have
been provided for to the value of R6 877 000 (2014: R6 517 000)
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Additions

97

95

183
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Opening balance

2014

24.9 Receivables from Non-Exchange Transactions
Reconciliation of provision for impairment of trade and other receivables
2015
Opening balance
Provision for impairment
Amount written off
as uncollectable

R’000

2014

R’000

(6 517)

(3 143)

(281)

(3 374)

0

0

(6 798)

(6 517)

The creation and release of provision for impaired receivables have been included in operating expenses
in surplus or deficit. Amounts charged to the allowance account are generally written off when there is no
expectation of recovering additional cash. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the
fair value of each class of loan mentioned above. The MHSC does not hold any collateral as security.
2015

Allowance for Impairment
Levies

R’000

2014

R’000

(6 798)

(6 517)

7 906

8 352

1 108

1 835
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None of the financial assets that are fully performing have been renegotiated in the last year.

Fair value of receivables from non-exchange transactions
Receivables from non-exchange transactions are discounted at the rate that is intended to estimate the
present value of receivables as at 31 March 2015, the difference between the discounted amount and the
carrying amount is processed in the statement of financial performance as a fair valuation allowance.

Receivables from non-exchange transactions past due but not impaired

96

The ageing of amounts past due but not impaired is as follows:
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2015

2014

R’000

R’000

One month past due

54

0

Two month past due

(26)

28

7 871

8 319

7 906

8 352

Current

Three month past due

7

5

As of 31 March 2015, receivables from non-exchange transactions were not impaired but an additional
allowance for credit losses of R360 000 was processed (2014: R3 374 000).

2015

R’000

The carrying amount of other receivables from
non-exchange transactions are as follows:

1 108

2014

R’000

1 835

The creation of provision for credit losses have been included in general expenses in surplus or deficit.
Amounts charged to the allowance account are generally written off when there is no expectation of
recovering additional cash.
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the fair value of each receivable amount
mentioned above. The MHSC does not hold any collateral as security.

24.10 Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of

Administrative bank account
Credit card
Investments with top four banks

R’000

6 591

6,811

94

622

0

(2)

209 587

187 675

216 274

195 108

2

2

Credit quality of cash at bank and short term deposits, excluding cash on hand
The credit quality of cash at bank and short term deposits, excluding cash on hand that are neither past due
nor impaired can be assessed by reference to external credit ratings (if available) or historical information
about counterparty default rates:

Credit Rating
2015

AAA
AA
A
Other

2014

R’000

R’000

0

0

216 274

195 108

0

0

0

0
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Administrative fines
bank account

R’000

97

Petty cash

2014
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2015

24.11 Finance Lease Obligation
Minimum lease payments due
2015

Within one year

2014

R’000

R’000

382

0

670

17

(74)

(1)

596

16

2015

2014

288

In second to fifth year inclusive
Less future finance charges

17

Present value of minimum lease payments due
R’000

R’000

355

0

596

16

Non-current liability

355

0

Current liability

241

16

596

16

Within one year
In second to fifth year inclusive

241

16

ANNUAL REPORT 2014/2015

It is MHSC’s policy to lease certain photocopier equipment under finance leases, during the reporting period
seven copiers and seven cellular phones were on lease.

98

The average lease term is two years for cellular phones and three years for copiers and the average effective
borrowing rate in 2015 was 9.25% (2014: 12%). There is no contingent rentals in relation to the leases. At
the expiry of the lease period the lease will continue for another 12 months unless it is terminated in writing
by either party.
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24.12 Administrative Fines – Restricted Funding
This represents fines that are imposed on mines as per section 55B of the Mine Health and Safety Act for
failing to comply with the provision contemplated in section 91 (1B) of the Mine Health and Safety Act. These
funds are ring fenced for the promotion of health and safety in the mines. On incurring expenses that relate
to their purpose, an amount is recognised in the statement of financial performance as promotion and safety
expense and also recognition of the equivalent amount as income from this liability.

2015

Opening balance

R’000

R’000

422

1 687

(642)

(193)

6 591

6 811

2015

2014

6 811

Collected and interest earned
Fines used
Closing balance

2014

5 317

24.13 Trade and Other Payables

Trade payables

R’000
6 252

10 375

(52)

0

1 902

1 048

8 102

11 423

Fair valuation of payables
Payroll payable

R’000

Accounts payable were discounted to their present values at the financial year end and the differences
between the carrying amount and the discounted value was recognised as a fair valuation allowance.

24.14 Revenue from Non-exchange Transactions

Transfer from DMR

R’000

70 431

65 821

5 197

5 035

75 628

70 856

24.15 Other income
2015

2014

R’000

R’000

Interest on debtors

15

44

Other income

10

205

235

201

312

523

Fair valuation – Finances

Royalties income

52

73

Included in other income is revenue arising from exchange of R235 000.00 (2014:R200 884.40) in relation
to royalty income earned from the sale of Stone dust bags developed through SIMRAC but managed by
Council for Scientific and Industrial Research (CSIR).
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Levies from the mines

R’000

2014
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2015
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The amount included in revenue arising from non-exchange transactions is as follows:

24.16 Operating Expenses excluding Employee Costs and Depreciation
2015

2014

R’000

R’000

Advertising

463

434

Auditors remuneration - Internal

697

928

1 907

1 366

Impairment of receivables

280

3,374

Consulting and professional fees

603

242

Insurance

280

240

2 062

2 062

169

343

4

5

Printing and stationery

1 255

2 077

*Strategic objectives

9 279

3 278

Telephone and fax

600

416

Travel – local

863

266

Legal fees

443

874

91

258

287

378

1 925

2 453

Exempt mines

228

98

Operating rental expenses

692

624

Repairs and maintenance

126

40

22 254

19 756

Auditors remuneration - External

Lease rentals on operating lease
Loss on scrapping of assets
Postage and courier

Management fees
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Other expenses
Governance support

100

Strategic objectives spending is against the following strategic objectives:
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Description

R’000

Promote and communicate MHSC programmes to improve OHS awareness(C02)

6 865

Implement knowledge management and information management system to support staff and stakeholders (IP04)

1 352

Ensure MHSC Office Staff and Council members have adequate skills and required
competencies through continuous development (L01)

Improve climate and environment to make it conducive for good staff morale within
MHSC (L02)
Ensure financial sustainability and viability of MHSC (F01)

565

489
8
9 279

24.17 Research Expenditure
2015

2014

R’000

R’000

2 516

2 816

526

2 542

1 402

301

Explosives

536

0

Behaviour

695

0

Physical hazards

317

0

Airborne pollutants

420

495

Occupational diseases

362

757

Special projects

2 220

7 037

Summit projects

4 700

1 131

Technical reviews

534

0

Promotion of Health and Safety

642

Rock falls
Rock bursts
Machinery & transport

Total

14 870

15 079

2015

2014

R’000

R’000

22 326

16 814

Bonus

569

569

Medical aid – company contributions

973

335

80

66

WCA

388

312

SDL

235

176

Leave pay provision charge

535

563

Staff welfare

200

52

1 145

1 251

444

233

26 895

20 371

Recruitment and placements
Staff training

101

UIF
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Basic
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24.18 Employee Related Costs

24.19 Finance Costs
2015

2014

R’000

R’000

37

3

Finance leases

Capitalisation rates used during the period were 9.25% on specific borrowings. The finance costs are due
to the winding down of financial leases.

24.20 Revenue from Exchange Transactions
2015

Investment interest
Council administration

2014

R’000

R’000

11 517

9 007

47

33

11 564

9 040

24.20.1 Promotion of Health and Safety
This expenditure is funded via administrative fines that are raised by the Chief Inspector of Mines in situation
where mines re found to be having failed to comply with the requirements of the Mine Health and Safety Act.
Based on the same Act, the use of these funds is restricted to promotion of health and safety activities only.
Expenditure is approve by the Chief Inspector of Mines with the recommendation of the Council of MHSC.
The fines are accounted for as a conditional grant note 24.12 and an equivalent amount of actual spending
is recognised as income out of the grant account.
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24.21 Cash Generated from Operations
Surplus

2015

R’000

2014

R’000

21 758

3 825

3 645

37

3

0

98

Adjustment for:
Depreciation and amortization
Finance lease

102

20 265

Movements in retirement benefit assets and liabilities
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Other non-cash items

328

352

Increase / (Decrease) in provisions

191

(114)

Increase in allowance for doubtful debts

280

3 374

Inventories

106

(86)

Receivables from exchange transactions

150

271

Other receivables from non-exchange transactions

446

(2 844)

(2 670)

(402)

(221)

1 494

22 737

27 549

Changes in working capital

Payables from exchange transactions
Unspent conditional grants and receipts

24.22 Other Cash Items

2015

2014

R’000

R’000

Cash receipts from DMR transfer

5 197

5 035

Cash receipts from other debtors

1 210

987

24.23 Provisions
The MHSC is obliged to pay performance bonus to its employees on or around September of each calendar year,
the payments are subject to the results of the audit for the year ending March and also on how they will perform
against their performance contracts. As at 31 March 2015 there was no certainty on the two prerequisites.

24.24 Commitments

2015

2014

R’000

R’000

569

684

Used in the current year

(378)

(416)

Unutilised allowance

(191)

(268)

Provision for current year

760

569

Closing balance

760

569

Opening balance

1 Year
2 - 5 Years

2014

R’000

R’000

3 556

5 700

5 699

7 667

2015

2014

2 143

1 967

24.24.2 Research Projects
R’000

R’000

Authorised and contracted

25 882

10 064

Authorised but not contracted

44 562

65 399

70 444

75 463

Research commitments represent contingent liability where it is uncertain whether present obligation exists
because an outflow of resources is not probable and the outflows cannot be reliably measured because they
are dependent on future uncertain contractual obligations and deliverables.
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2015
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As at reporting date, the MHSC had outstanding commitments under non- cancellable operating lease
which is maturing in September 2017 and which falls due as follows:
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24.24.1 Operating Leases

24.25 Executive Members’ Emoluments
2015

Emoluments
R’000

Termination Group life cover
benefits
plus bonus

Total

R’000

R’000

R’000

Mr TT Dube

1,676

0.0

126

1 802

M. DS Molapo

1,219

0.00

91

1 310

908

266

68

1 242

3 803

266

285

4 354

Mr N Singh

2014

Emoluments
R’000

Bonus plus Group
life cover

Total

R’000

R’000

Mr TT Dube

1 583

31

1 614

M. DS Molapo

1 151

84

1 235

Mr N Singh

1 139

102

1 241

3 873

217

4 090
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24.26 Risk Management
Financial Risk Management
The MHSC’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks, market risk (including fair value interest rate
risk and cash flow interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

104
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The MHSC’s overall risk management programme focusses on the unpredictability of financial market and
seek to minimise potential adverse effects on the MHSC’s financial performance. Risk Management is carried
out by a Central Energy Fund under policies approved by Accounting Authority, the MHSC has also moved
its investments to the Corporation for Public Deposits with the Reserve bank of South Africa. The Accounting
Authority provides written principles for overall risk management as well as written policies covering specific
areas, such as interest rate risk, credit risk and investment of excess liquidity.
During the report period, there were no changes with regards to the way in which risk manage processes were
managed.

Liquidity Risk
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and cash equivalent. The MHSC’s risk
to liquidity is a result for the funds available to cover future commitments. The MHSC manages liquidity risk
through an on-going review of future commitments and also by retaining a 10% reserve on collected levies.
Cash flow forecasts are prepared and funds availability are monitored.

The table below analyses the MHSC’s financial liabilities based on the remaining period at the statement
of financial position to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying balances as the impact of
discounting is not significant.
2015

2014

Financial Liability

Current /
Non-Current

R’000

R’000

Payables from exchange

Current – at cost

8 102

11 423

Retirement medical aid obligation

Non-current – at fair
value

2 276

1 626

25 882

10 064

Commitments
(Note 23.24.2)

Non-current - at cost

Rate Risk
As the MHSC has no interest-bearing assets, the MHSC’s income and operating cash flows are substantially
independent of changes in market interest rates.
The MHSC has invested its funds in the “A” rated financial institution through the services of the Treasury
management of the Central Energy Fund and with the Corporation for Public Deposits (CPD). These funds
are prone to interest rate risks. Below are investments that are susceptible to interest rate fluctuations:

ABSA

2014

R’000

5.00% - 6.00%

214 269

0

5.25% - 5.75%

1 645

187 675

Credit Risk
Credit risk consists mainly of debtors in relation to levies raised with the mines. The MHSC does not hold
any collateral security in relation to these receivables.
Trade receivables comprise a widespread customer base. Management evaluated credit risk relating to
customers on an on-going basis. If customers are independently rated, these ratings are used. Otherwise,
if there is no independent rating, risk control assesses the credit quality of the customer, taking into account
its financial position, past experience and other factors.
Financial assets exposed to credit risk at year end were the receivables from mines based on the levies
raise as noted below:
Cash and Cash Equivalent

2015

R’000

2014

R’000

Levies receivable (note 24.09)

7 906

8 352

Sundry receivable (note 24.08)

125

556
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CPD

2015

R’000
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Interest Rate
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Cash and Cash Equivalent

Sensitivity Risk
The MHSC’s surplus funds are not highly sensitive to interest rate fluctuations due to the fact that the
investments periods are short. The average movement in interest rates does not have material impact on
the invested funds.

24.27 Going Concern
We draw attention to the fact that at 31 March 2015, the MHSC had an accumulated surplus of
R207 315 000 and that the MHSC’s total assets exceed its liabilities by R207 315 000.
The annual financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a
going concern. This basis presumes that funds will be available to finance future operations and that the
realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities, contingent obligations and commitments will occur in the
ordinary course of business.

24.28 Events after the Reporting Date
The Council is not aware of any matter or circumstance arising since the end of the reporting period.

24.29 Fruitless and Wasteful Expenditure
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2015

2014

R’000

R’000

This expenses relates to publication of research questions in the
government Gazette which were later found to be not fully complaint with the procurement prescripts. That publication had to be
cancelled and this resulted in the fruitless and wasteful
expenditure of R3 000.

0

3

0

272

During 2013/14 the MHSC erroneously extended an offer of
appointment to unsuccessful candidate. An investigation was
conducted and the money is being recovered over a period of six
months.

0

78

When MHSC was deregistered for VAT around 2002, MHSC
closed and paid off one account but inadvertently did not to pay
and close the second account. SARS brought this to the attention
of the MHSC around February 2014 and this and already
accumulated interest and penalties.

24.30 Irregular Expenditure
The MHSC finalised engagements with the National Treasury in relation to the previous year’s irregular
expenditure reported below and were advised to refer this to the Board for condoning.

2015

2014

R’000

Opening balance

9 618

Add: Irregular Expenditure – current year
Less: Irregular Expenditure condoned – current
year

R’000

9 581

626

37

9 618

0

626

9 618

Analysis of expenditure awaiting condoning per age classification
2015

Current year
Prior years

2014

R’000

R’000

0

9 581

626

9 618

626

37

Details of irregular expenditure condoned per age classification
30 September 2014

2012

6 733

30 September 2014

2013

2 651

30 September 2014

2014

37

Recovered in 2014-15

The condoned balances of R9 581 000 relate to financial years 2011/12 and 2012/13 where bids were
not advertised in the government tender bulletin but only in newspapers, incorrect application of treasury
determination in preference point system calculations, bids were advertised for a shorter period than 21
days, bid specifications were not always drafted by Bid Specification Committee and list of prospective
bidders was not always managed as required by practice note 8 of 2007/08.

Details of irregular expenditure recovered
In the 2013/14 financial year, the bidder made a calculation error in their bid price. The MHSC paid the
amount of the invoice and requested the supplier to refund the difference and the supplier agreed to a refund
of R37 131.27 .The money was recovered in the current financial year of 2014/15.

Details of Irregular Expenditure - Current Year
An employee who is also a member of bid evaluation committee was once a director in a close corporation
with a person who later tendered under a different company to which this employee is neither a member
nor a director, this employee did not disclose the fact that they were once directors of the same entity. The
company of the former co-director of the employee and which was the only bid received by the MHSC was
awarded the tender. The non-disclosure is read in accordance with the term “associate” in the National
Treasury Regulation 16 (a) 8.4
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197

2011

Date condoned
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R’000
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Financial year

24.31 Deviation from Supply Chain Management Regulations
Paragraph 12(1)(d)(i) of Government gazette No. 27636 issued on 30 May 2005 states that a supply chain
management policy must provide for the procurement of goods and services by way of a competitive bidding
process.
Paragraph 36 of the same gazette states that the accounting officer may dispense with the official procurement
process in certain circumstances, provided that he records the reasons for any deviations and reports them
to the next meeting of the accounting authority and includes a note to the annual financial statements.
No deviations were done during the reporting period ended 31 March 2015.

24.32 Related Party Transactions
MHSC Member

Entity

Mr H Rex

Anglo Ashanti
Ltd

Transaction arising from
levies raised

0.00

2015
R’000

5 041

2015
R’000

2015
R’000

Anglo Coal

1 660

1 260

1

0.00

Dr B Nene

Lonmin

4 000

3 306

14

0.00

Mr H Van de Merwe

Shaft Sinkers

0.00

47

0.00

87

Dr T Legobye

Harmony

5 424

0.00

447

0.00

Mr P Coetzer

Royal Bafokeng

984

0.00

0.00

0.00

Mr R Mafoko

Glencore

1 395

0.00

0.00

0.00

Mr X Mbonambi

Council Member

Dr L Ndelu

Council Member

Ms N Masekoa

Council Member

Mr N Nhlapo

Council Member

Mr E Gcilitshana

Council Member

Mr F Stehring

Council Member

Mr L McMaster

Council Member

Mr F van Straten

Council Member

Mr P Mardon

Council Member

Mr S van der Woude

Council Member

Mr T Masondo

2015
R’000

Balance owing on levies raised

0.00

0.00
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The Department of Mineral Resources is the executive authority of the Mine Health and Safety
Council and has contributed towards administration expenses of the Council as follows:
2015

2014

R’000

Transfers from DMR

R’000

5 197

5 035

24.33 Non-Executive Emoluments
Except for the independent audit committee members, the board and its other committees are not paid for
attendance to meetings.

Payment to audit committee members
2015

R’000

2014

R’000

Travel

Meeting

Meeting

0

0

12

Mr E Manning

88

66

30

Ms N Khumalo

0

31

58

Ms T Sihlaba
Mr R Theunissen

0

80

125

109

The administrative fines become due and receivable when the mine (s) that have been fined have exhausted
all the remedies available to them as to whether they accept or contest the fine(s). Before this processes is
concluded these fines are not recorded as receivable. This process means that there are possible contingent
assets that are subject to the conclusion of these processes.
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As per Public Finance Management Act, entities are supposed to get permission to roll-over surplus into
the next financial year from National Treasury; as at 31 May 2015 the MHSC was still waiting for the
response to its application to retain and roll over the surplus of R20 265 000 and its accumulated reserves of
R207 315 000.
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24.34 Contingencies

NOTES
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